Recovery of arm motor function in the subacute phase after stroke

Aspects of assessment, treatment and neural reorganization



Iris Charlotte Brunner

Dissertation for the degree of philosophiae doctor (PhD) University of Bergen, Norway 2012

To my father Paul Brunner, in loving memory

Table of contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2
SCIENTIFIC ENVIRONMENT	4
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
LIST OF PAPERS	. 10
1. INTRODUCTION	. 11
1.1 IMPAIRMENTS AND THEIR CONSEQUENCES	. 11
1.2 RECOVERY	. 11
1.3 RECOVERY OF ARM MOTOR FUNCTION AFTER STROKE	. 12
1.4 NEWER TREATMENT APPROACHES FOR ARM MOTOR RECOVERY .	. 15
1.4.1 Constraint-induced movement therapy (CIMT)	. 15
1.4.2 Bimanual approaches	. 18
1.4.3 Action observation and mental practice	. 23
1.4.4 Technology-based arm rehabilitation	. 25
1.5 NEUROIMAGING IN STROKE RECOVERY	. 27
1.5.1 Some basics	. 27
1.5.2 Functional MRI and motor recovery after stroke	. 29
2. OBJECTIVES	. 33
3. METHODS	. 34
3.1 DESIGN	. 34
3.2 PARTICIPANTS	. 34
3.3 PROCEDURES	. 38
3.3.1 Procedures paper I	. 38
3.3.2 Procedures paper II	. 38
3.3.3 Procedures paper III	. 42

3.4 OUTCOME MEASURES PAPERS I - III	44
3.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSES	45
3.5.1 Statistical analyses paper I	45
3.5.2 Statistical analyses paper II	46
3.5.3 Statistical analyses paper III	46
4. SUMMARY OF RESULTS	47
4.1 Paper I	47
4.2 Paper II	48
4.3 Paper III	49
5. DISCUSSION	50
5.1 DISCUSSION PAPER I	50
5.1.1 Methodological considerations	50
5.1.2 Recovery of arm function	53
5.2 DISCUSSION PAPER II	56
5.2.1 Methodological considerations	56
5.2.2 Comparison of mCIMT and bimanual training	58
5.3 DISCUSSION PAPER III	62
5.3.1 Methodological considerations	62
5.3.2 Plasticity and response to action observation	64
5.4 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR ALL STUDIES PAPERS I – III	67
6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	68
REFERENCES	70

SCIENTIFIC ENVIRONMENT

This thesis was carried out at the Physiotherapy Research Group, Department of Public Health and Primary Health Care, University of Bergen. My supervisors were Professor Liv Inger Strand, University of Bergen, and Professor Jan Sture Skouen, University of Bergen and Haukeland University Hospital.

The studies were carried out with help from the Departments of Physiotherapy and Occupational therapy at Haukeland University Hospital and Haraldsplass Diaconal Hospital. The second study was partly integrated in the Bergen ESD Stroke Study.

The third study was conducted in collaboration with the Bergen fMRI group, mainly represented by associate Professor PhD Renate Grüner, National Resource Center for fMRI.

The Norwegian Fund for Post-Graduate Training in Physiotherapy funded my position as a PhD research fellow. The Grieg Foundation and the Rieber Foundation funded the operating costs for the third study.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very grateful that I was given the opportunity to realize this PhD thesis at the University of Bergen. This work would not have been possible without the help of many other people directly and indirectly involved.

First, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my main supervisor Professor Liv Inger Strand. Neurorehabilitation became one of the focus areas of the Physiotherapy Research Group under her leadership, which gave me the opportunity to follow my research passions. Her guidance during the last four years helped me through difficult phases of the project, and a meeting with her always had a positive effect and made me feel better and more knowledgeable afterwards. She has been a role model as a scientist of integrity, a patient and fair teacher and a supporting and empathetic person.

My co-supervisor Professor Jan Sture Skouen has been a constant support throughout my PhD studies. His profound knowledge in the field of rehabilitation, his foresight, his openness for new ideas and his diplomatic abilities never failed to impress me. Despite his huge workload he managed to improvise and react promptly whenever the need arose.

I greatly appreciate all the help I received from the physiotherapists and occupational therapists at Haukeland University Hospital, the Department of Rehabilitation and Physical Medicine in Nordås and Haraldsplass Diaconal Hospital concerning recruitment of patients and testing. I would like to thank especially the frequent testers Silje Nødtvedt, Trude Holvik and Trine Line Hansen for their help with assessments.

Parts of this work were substantially facilitated by being integrated in the Bergen ESD Stroke Project. I would like to thank the leading researcher Håkon Hofstad for his support and for inviting my participation in the Bergen ESD Stroke Project. In this context I wish to express my gratitude for the smooth teamwork with the ambulatory team and the community team concerning patients involved in my projects. It was a pleasure to work with you all. Also thanks to the staff of the Neurology Section at Haukeland University Hospital who were very helpful when I was looking for potential patients. Four physiotherapists in private practice, Metter Rokne, Beate Anne Kvamsdal, Inger Beate Birkeland and Aashild Eldøy agreed to treat project patients if they were discharged during the project period, and two of them did in fact get involved. Thank you very much for your willingness and contributions.

Physicist PhD Renate Grüner was a main contributor to the third study. I would like to thank her for helping me approach the exciting field of neuroimaging by providing profound knowledge and steady nerves during a demanding analysis procedure. I would also like to express my gratitude to the radiographers Eva Øksnes, Turid Randa and Roger Barndon who skillfully and empathetically handled the project patients, and patiently answered my questions.

My dear colleagues at the Physiotherapy Research Group were a source of interesting discussions, helpful advice and emotional support. It has been a fantastic place to work during the last four years, characterized by professional expertise, respect and generosity, which deeply impressed me. Alice Kvåle, Målfrid Råheim, Rolf Moe-Nilssen and my fellow PhD students set high professional standards, and it was fun to be there.

I want to thank the Norwegian Fund for Post-graduate Training in Physiotherapy for financing this project. I am very grateful for the financial support for the third study received from the Grieg Foundation and the Rieber Foundation.

My friends, especially my TTP club, who gave me something to look forward to and the opportunity for laughter in times of relative solitude.

And, of course, thanks to my wonderful family, my husband Wolfgang and my children Mona and Malte. Wolfgang not only provided emotional support but also inspired me by asking reasonable and relevant lay questions about my work that I had forgotten to ask because I was diving too deeply into the subject. Mona and Malte always reminded me of what matters in life. Thank you for tolerating a temporarily absent-minded and irritable wife and mother.

Bergen, September 2012

ABBREVIATIONS

AO	Action observation
APBT	Active and passive bilateral training
ARAT	Action research arm test
BATRAC	Bilateral arm training with auditory cueing
BOLD	Blood oxygen level dependent
CNS	Central nervous system
СТ	Computed tomography
DTI	Diffusion tensor imaging
EEG	Electroencephalography
GMP	Generalized motor program
ICF	International classification of functioning, disability and handicap
MEG	Magnetoencephalography
fMRI	Functional magnetic resonance imaging
M1	Primary motor cortex
MAL	Motor Activity Log
MIC	Minimally clinically important change
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MI	Motor imagery
MNI	Montreal Neurological Institute
MMSE	Mini mental status examination

NHPT	Nine hole peg test
PET	Positron emission tomography
rCBF	Regional cerebral blood flow
RCT	Randomized controlled trial
TMS	Transcranial magnetic stimulation
UE	Upper extremity

ABSTRACT

Early after stroke, approximately two thirds of all patients experience impaired motor function of an arm impacting personal, social and occupational areas. The objective of this thesis was to examine different aspects of arm motor recovery in the subacute phase after stroke with regard to possible treatment alternatives. This was realized in three different studies: In the first study the recovery of arm motor function and the proportion of patients eligible for Constraint-induced movement therapy (CIMT) were examined in a longitudinal, repeated measurement design. In the second study two different treatment approaches for patients with mild to moderate paresis of an arm were compared in a randomized controlled trial. In the third study functional MRI was applied to study changes in potential mirror neurons after stroke and compared to healthy controls.

The first study revealed that the number of patients regarded eligible for CIMT, according to defined motor criteria, constantly decreased during the first 3 months. Most patients with mild to moderate paresis regained satisfactory arm function, all receiving standard rehabilitation. In conclusion, it was proposed that CIMT should not be offered sooner than 4 weeks post stroke to patients with persisting motor deficits.

No difference in change between the group receiving modified CIMT and the group receiving bimanual training was found in the second study. The results suggest that bimanual training may be as effective as modified CIMT in improving arm function in the subacute phase after stroke.

In the third study changes over time in potential mirror neurons were found, concomitant with improvement of arm motor function. The activation of mirror neurons early and late after stroke and in healthy control subjects strengthens the notion that treatment approaches targeting those neurons may be a means of restoring arm motor function after stroke.

LIST OF PAPERS

Paper I

Brunner IC, Skouen JS, Strand LI

Recovery of upper extremity motor function with regard to eligibility for constraint-induced movement therapy

Top Stroke Rehabil. 2011 May-Jun;18(3):248-57

Paper II

Brunner IC, Skouen JS, Strand LI

Is modified Constraint-induced movement therapy more effective than Bimanual training in improving arm motor function in the subacute phase post stroke: A randomized controlled trial

Clin Rehabil.2012 May (Epub ahead of print)

Paper III

Brunner IC, Skouen JS, Ersland L, Grüner R.

Plasticity and response to action observation: A longitudinal fMRI study of potential mirror neurons in patients with subacute stroke.

Submitted







The published papers are reprinted with permission from Thomas Land and Sage.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 IMPAIRMENTS AND THEIR CONSEQUENCES

Stroke is the leading cause of disability in the western world, with an estimated incidence of 114 to 350 cases per 100 000 persons and a prevalence of 1.5 % to 3 % in different European countries.¹ An exponential increase due to an aging population is expected worldwide.^{2, 3} Both acute treatment and rehabilitation of stroke have improved considerably during the last decades. The widespread establishment of specialized stroke units with dedicated interdisciplinary teams has contributed to reducing mortality and long term disability.⁴ Early treatment, such as thrombolysis in ischemic stroke within a few hours post onset prevents many patients from experiencing lasting symptoms, but a substantial number of stroke survivors still have to live with long-term impairments. ⁵ These impairments comprise a broad array of physical, cognitive and emotional difficulties that impact on personal, social and occupational areas and quality of life. ⁶⁻⁹

1.2 RECOVERY

Recovery is an umbrella term for different structural and functional changes that lead to improvement in performance and self-experience. Lack of consistency in use of this term has been criticized ¹⁰ Recovery can be described as regaining or approaching former possible capabilities and the term can be further subdivided into restitution and compensation. ¹⁰ Restitution means resumption of a pre-stroke state with the original body structures, which is rare after stroke, but can occur when small infarcts leave enough functionally intact tissue, or when function was only compromised by oedema. ¹¹ Most recovery though, comprises compensation with modified use of the affected body parts, or use of alternative body parts, or alternative strategies to accomplish a task.

Attempts have been made to describe different aspects of recovery according to the ICF classification. Levin et al. (2009) proposed a distinction between recovery and compensation at the neuronal level, the body function level and the activity level. Recovery here always means a restoration of the original state both in the brain and with regard to movement patterns, while the term compensation encompasses alternative strategies and is not sub-classified under recovery. ¹⁰ It can be discussed as to how important a distinction between "true" recovery and compensation is for the patient. Compensation strategies may be successful in the short term, but limit performance in the long term. In this context, can using the less affected arm result in an under-stimulation of the more affected arm and corresponding brain areas, thereby aggravating the functional condition after stroke. At the level of cortical reorganization recruitment of the contralesional primary motor cortex can inhibit the ipsilesional primary motor cortex. On the other hand compensation is necessary to accomplish the activities of daily living for many patients. A clarification of the theoretical constructs underlying the term recovery helps clinicians and researchers to choose the right outcome measures for different aspects of recovery.

This thesis focuses on recovery of arm function in the subacute phase post stroke, and comprises the following aspects:

- The course of recovery and eligibility for an intensive training approach
- Intensive treatment approaches for the paretic arm
- Reorganization of specific brain networks with possible implications for treatment

1.3 RECOVERY OF ARM MOTOR FUNCTION AFTER STROKE

Impaired motor function of an arm is among the most common disabilities after stroke, although estimates on incidence vary somewhat. Initial severity of paresis and time after stroke seem to be the most important predictors for regaining arm motor function. In the classic Copenhagen Stroke Study 421 patients were studied with repeated measurements during a 1 year period after admittance to hospital. Of patients with initial mild paresis 79 % reached normal arm motor function after one year, whereas only 18 % of the patients with initial severe paresis achieved the same functionality.¹² Time after stroke was shown to be an important predictor of recovery, most patients reaching a plateau after 9 weeks. According to a study by Kwakkel et al. (2003) on 102 severely impaired patients, upper limb motor function in 30-60 % of the patients tended to be more or less impaired 6 months after stroke. ¹³ In a subsequent study

based on the same patients, it was found that most improvement occurred within the first 4 weeks after stroke. ¹⁴ Verheyden et al. (2008) could not find any differences in the time course of recovery of the trunk compared to the arm and leg, and functional ability in daily life activities. ¹⁵ This study corroborated the finding that the most notable improvements occurred during the first 3 months, in accordance with the above mentioned and other studies. ¹⁶⁻¹⁸

Clinical evaluation using standardized measurement tools has revealed features that help to predict long term improvement of arm motor function. The presence of active finger extension and shoulder abduction within 72 hours post stroke predicted in 98 % of the patients some dexterity of the arm within 6 months. ¹⁹ Strength and 2 point-discrimination at 2 and 4 weeks post stroke were also found to be reliable predictors of dexterity at 6 months post stroke. ²⁰ Kinematic measures, that assess range of motion, smoothness of movement, speed, trajectory and other parameters may also be useful predictors of motor recovery. ²¹ Motor evoked potentials were suggested as a supplementary tool to predict upper limb recovery, especially for patients with pronounced initial paresis ^{22, 23} but did not always yield more accurate prognosis than clinical assessment alone. ²⁴ Motor evoked potentials allow inferences about the integrity of the cortico-spinal tract damage can also be examined with the help of neuroimaging techniques such as fMRI. ²⁵

Although predictors of arm motor recovery doubtlessly can help in rehabilitation planning, they also constitute a risk of that the individual's potential will be overlooked. Stinear (2010) pointed out that a methodological weakness in predictor studies is the lack of description of the type of rehabilitation the patients received in prognostic studies. The frequently used term "standard rehabilitation" can comprise a broad range from no treatment to some treatment to intensive training programmes and thereby constitutes a major confounder. ²⁶ She recommends that dose and intensity of the rehabilitative treatment provided should be included as a variable when predicting and assessing outcome.

Studies on the time course of recovery indicate that there is a critical timewindow within the first 3 months when most plasticity can be expected. ^{12, 14, 15} While plasticity is present throughout life, a brain lesion puts the brain into a receptive, "juvenile" state for a limited time. This is reflected in an up-regulation of proteins that promote remapping and rewiring processes of the brain enhancing synaptic connectivity, as demonstrated in animal studies.¹¹ The crucial question for all neurorehabilitation professionals is how to exploit this time-window in the most beneficial way for the patient. Some clues derived from research with humans and animals may guide rehabilitation practice.²⁷ Plasticity is inherent to the brain, but is also use-dependent and can be enhanced by adequate stimuli in terms of an enriched environment and training.^{28, 29} Physical and occupational therapy with challenging activities that started soon after stroke was found to be associated with better functional outcomes than later onset and less intense therapy. ^{30, 31} There are, however, some indications that activities in the first days should not be too forceful in order to avoid an exacerbation of the damage in the penumbra, the area around the infarction, due to anoxic cell death.³²

Another factor that may limit intensive training is post stroke fatigue, which affects approximately 30 % to 70 % of all stroke survivors to various degrees. ³³ Consequently, although intensive and challenging activities are important stimuli for the reorganizing brain, other factors have to be taken into account. Given a potentially beneficial set of treatment options, the art and challenge of rehabilitation consists of providing the right treatment to the right patient at the right point in time. The fact that impaired arm motor function has a profound effect on several domains of health-related quality of life should be an impetus to provide high-quality rehabilitation is knowledge as to which subgroups may benefit from a certain approach and at which stage after stroke it may be most suitable.

There have been attempts to define the characteristics that may predict treatment success when participating in Constraint-induced movement therapy (CIMT), but these studies mainly included participants in the chronic phase after stroke who already fulfilled some minimal motor criteria. ³⁴⁻³⁶ Active finger extension, better motor function of the hand and age were found to predict treatment outcome. There is a lack of studies examining the eligibility for different treatment approaches in the acute and subacute phase, when most plasticity can be expected.

1.4 NEWER TREATMENT APPROACHES FOR ARM MOTOR RECOVERY

This chapter focuses on neurorehabilitative treatment approaches that are relevant for this thesis, and is not meant to provide a comprehensive overview. Constraint-induced movement therapy and bilateral approaches were the basis for the randomized controlled trial in paper II, and treatment approaches based on mirror neurons served as a motivation for the fMRI study in paper III. Some other interesting approaches which are not directly related to this thesis are shortly mentioned.

1.4.1 Constraint-induced movement therapy (CIMT)

CIMT was not based on experiences gained from practical work with patients, but was rather a paradigm for translational research, where results from animal studies were applied to humans.³⁷ Developed by Taub and coworkers in the 1970s CIMT was based on research with monkeys, which underwent surgical severance of the afferent nerves transferring somatic sensation in one forelimb.³⁸ In the absence of sensory feedback the monkeys did not use the affected forelimb, even though the motor nerves were intact. This was partly explained by diaschisis, a cortical or spinal shock due to a local injury, leading to depressed motor activity. Diaschisis is presumed to last up to 2-6 months in non-human primates and during which time behavioural changes could be observed. This led to the development of the learned non-use model.³⁹ When the animal tried to move the injured forelimb the movement was clumsy and ineffective. In terms of behavioural psychology the unsuccessful attempt to move the affected limb could be experienced as punishment and thereby as negative reinforcement. Repeated frustrating attempts lead to avoidance and compensation with the intact limb, and this avoidance strategy again results in decreased cortical representation and secondary muscular atrophies of the affected limb.³⁸ In contrast, when the monkey was forced to use the impaired limb by restraining the intact one, learned non-use could be reversed.

Taub and colleagues observed that the monkeys even after several years of non-use were able to use the affected limb again when forced to do so.

The logical next step was to transfer the knowledge of learned non-use derived from this animal research to patients with stroke and other brain injuries. Some initial studies were mainly based on "forced use", i.e. restraining the better Upper extremity (UE) and thereby inducing use of the affected UE. ^{40, 41} From the early 1990s, additional intensive task practice was introduced as a crucial part of the concept. ⁴² The first studies with patients in the chronic phase post stroke showed promising results ⁴¹⁻ ⁴³, generating a large body of research during the following years. CIMT is often described as a "therapeutic package" and although restraining the intact UE has attracted much attention, task oriented training and behavioral techniques seem to be of equal importance.⁴⁴ Intense repetitive use of the affected UE is a key factor of the concept, or as Taub stated: "The common factor appears to be repeatedly practicing use of the paretic arm. Any technique that induces a patient to use an affected limb many hours a day for a period of consecutive days should be therapeutically efficacious." ⁴⁵ Task oriented training was supplemented with techniques from behavioural psychology, such as positive reinforcement and shaping.⁴⁶ Positive reinforcement is provided in terms of feedback and encouragement by the therapist supervising the training. The term shaping means dividing a behavioral or motor objective into small steps and gradually approaching the intended motor task. The selected motor tasks should be challenging at the limit of what is currently possible for the patient, thus stimulating effort and motivation but avoiding frustration.⁴⁴ The third essential component of CIMT is the so-called "transfer package", comprising different cognitive strategies to increase compliance and adherence to the training protocol: A formal contract with the participant, and if possible, the caregiver; a home diary where the participant has to write down the time spent on daily training and wearing the restraining mitt; the daily application of the Motor Activity Log (MAL) a structured interview assessing frequency and quality of use of the affected limb and a home skills assignment. 44

CIMT usually lasts 14 days during which time the participants are expected to wear the mitt 90 % of all waking time and engage in repetitive task oriented training for 6 hours / day on weekdays. CIMT seems to be suitable only for a limited subgroup of patients with stroke, who are cognitively intact, highly motivated and capable of some active extension of the wrist and fingers. Over the last years a large body of research on CIMT has emerged. CIMT appears to be a superior treatment approach compared to standard treatment, which are usually less intensive, but results are incoherent with regard to long-term effects.^{47, 48} A recent update of an earlier Cochrane meta-analysis, including 18 RCTs with a total of 674 participants revealed a modest positive effect on arm motor function but no effect on disability. The authors recommend interpreting the results with caution, referring to small-study bias and a lack of equally-dosed training for the control groups in many cases.⁴⁹

Modifications of CIMT

Inspired by the apparent efficacy of CIMT, but deterred by the high demands on resources for such intensive training, several modifications of CIMT (mCIMT) have been developed, referred to as "modified",⁵⁰ "distributed"⁵¹ or "shortened"⁵². One of the most extensively investigated modifications of CIMT was developed by Page et al., in which contact with a therapist was reduced to 3 x 0.5 hours a week, but the training period was extended to 10 weeks. This modification was employed with patients in the acute and chronic phase after stroke and resulted in larger UE motor improvement of the experimental group when compared to a group receiving traditional rehabilitation. ^{50, 53, 54}

In other studies various combinations were applied, such as 3 hour daily arm and hand training and a restraint for 90 % of waking hours for 2 weeks ⁵², or 2 hour daily training, restraint for 6 hours per day for 3 weeks ⁵⁵, or 4 hour daily training and a shoulder sling for 90 % of waking hours for 10 days ⁵⁶, or forced use only by wearing a mitt without a special training program. ⁵⁷ Some of the studies corroborated the superiority of the modification of CIMT used ^{55, 56}, but others did not. ^{52, 58} In the early phase after stroke, CIMT of less intensity is usually applied. The results of one study indicate that higher intensity CIMT might even be detrimental in the acute phase.⁵⁹ Other attempts to reduce costly therapist contact have resulted in group- and home-based CIMT and the development of AutoCite, which is an automatic work station.⁶⁰ Furthermore, combinations of CIMT and botulinum toxin A, or CIMT and mental practice have been tried out, but are still at the experimental stage.⁶¹⁻⁶³ CIMT is not restricted to UE motor function in adults with stroke. Some of the underlying principles have been transferred to the treatment of patients with aphasia ⁶⁴, children with congenital hemiparesis ⁶⁵, and to the lower limb ⁶⁶.

1.4.2 Bimanual approaches

Bimanual or bilateral arm training is a generic term, which comprises different approaches, from simple repetitive movements to advanced task-related training. McCombe Waller et al. (2008) suggested that training of the hemiplegic arm should include a certain amount of bimanual tasks, since activities of daily living usually involve the coordinated use of both hands.⁶⁷

Mechanisms that are hypothesized to exert a beneficial influence on the recovery of the paretic UE are derived from movement research in healthy persons. Fitts' law implies that there is a relationship between the time needed for a movement, the amplitude of the movement and the width of the target. As the difficulty of a manual task increases, the time required to complete it also increases. This law is attenuated with regard to interlimb coordination as demonstrated in a classic experiment by Kelso and colleagues.⁶⁸ Persons, who were asked to strike different targets with the index finger of both hands, synchronized the movement of both hands automatically. When an easy target for one hand was combined with a difficult target for the other hand, the movement time for the easy target increased when both movements were performed simultaneously. Both hands were acting as a single unit and not independently, the so called "symmetry-constraint" A recent replication study confirmed the results of Kelso et al.⁶⁹ The susceptibility of both hands to act as a unit was also observed in an asynchronous task, where both hands were moved in opposite

directions. The faster the performance, the more difficult it became to avoid synchronous movements.⁷⁰

Three basic models have been proposed as an underlying neurophysiological basis of bimanual coordination. One is the generalized motor programme (GMP), based on the work of Bernstein and Schmidt. A common motor plan for both hands is hypothesized, which can be modified by hand-specific parameters in order to enable different hand movements.⁷¹ The intermanual crosstalk model suggests two different motor plans, which can interact at two or more levels in the central nervous system (CNS), e.g. via intercallosal connections or uncrossed corticospinal fibres. Both of the above models have their shortcomings, as pointed out by Cardoso de Oliveira (2002).⁷⁰ Assuming that hand-specific parameters control the movements of each hand derived from a common motor plan, the GMP does not explain the shifting degree of coordination between the two hands, which should be more static when hand-specific parameters are regulated isolated for each hand. Intermanual crosstalk on the other hand, fails to explain the close coupling between the hands, as observed in the transition of a movement from anti-phase to in-phase when frequency increases.⁷¹ Both models share a hierarchical structure and are not mutually exclusive. A nonhierarchical model to explain bimanual coordination is the dynamic systems approach, which assumes different neural networks with mutual influence. In this approach "coordinative structures", such as muscles can be regulated as a unit, making movements economical by reducing the possible degrees of freedom, but at the same time providing enough flexibility for adaptions to the task and the environment.⁷⁰ None of the three models mentioned can fully explain bimanual coordination, but it is obvious that motor actions of one hand influence the other, and that this influence might be exploited therapeutically.

In the case of case of stroke it is not the task or the environment that sets the constraint, but the paresis. Stroke seems to provoke adaptive processes, approximating peak velocities and movement trajectories, bringing speed and path of motion of both hands closer to each other.⁷² When comparing unimanual and bimanual tasks, the paretic UE is found to influence the non-paretic UE in bimanual tasks. The movement

time of the non-paretic hand is prolonged in bimanual tasks, which gives the impression that the paretic UE inhibits the non-paretic.⁷³

Also facilitating effects of the non-paretic on the paretic UE have been observed in a study using bimanual aiming tasks. Here, patients had to strike two different targets with their paretic and non-paretic arm. Increased peak velocity of the paretic UE and a tendency towards synchronization of the movements made both hands reaching the targets simultaneously in many of the trials.⁷² It is suggested to analyze wether inter-limb coupling is preserved after stroke in order to integrate facilitating bimanual exercises in the treatment. Lesion-induced asymmetry may be balanced by changing environmental conditions, such as loading the non-paretic arm.^{74, 75}

Knowledge about how patients with paresis of an UE may benefit from coupling mechanisms between the two arms is still very limited. Relatively simple movements, such as flexion and extension of the elbow, wrist flexion and extension, pushing and pulling handles, or symmetric aiming tasks are usually investigated in bimanual training protocols.^{72, 76-78} Daily life activities mainly consist of complex complementary tasks, where the dominant hand normally manipulates, while the other, usually the non-dominant, stabilizes.⁷⁹ While it may be helpful to use principles of intermanual coupling to facilitate simple movements, complex skilled activities are based on overcoming these restraining patterns.⁸⁰ The skills of a mechanic or an expert piano player depend on the independent use of each hand. It is possible that exploiting synchronization tendencies based on innate motor programs could be beneficial for severely impaired patients with very limited arm motor abilities. Patients with moderate to mild paresis on the other hand may not benefit from such training in the same way.

Examples of bimanual approaches

Bimanual approaches aim to exploit coupling mechanisms and rebalance interhemispheric inhibition and facilitation. In several small scale studies and one large RCT Bilateral arm training with auditory cueing (BATRAC) was investigated. In this approach the patients use a device with two handles that are pushed and pulled in a transverse plane cued by auditory signals. Six weeks of training with BATRAC was found to improve strength and arm motor function.⁷⁷ However, in a subsequent study with 21 participants improvement was only found in some patients who also showed signs of cortical reorganization as assessed by functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI).⁸¹ Replication with a condensed protocol could not corroborate an improvement in arm motor function.⁸² In an RCT with 111 chronic patients where BATRAC was compared to dose-matched therapeutic exercises similar improvements were found in both groups.⁷⁸ An fMRI study with a subgroup of the participants suggested a difference in the reorganization patterns in the BATRAC group.

Another approach, called active and passive bilateral training (APBT), combines active wrist movements of the non-paretic arm with passive wrist movements of the paretic arm with the expectation of activating homologous muscles. A pilot study implied a beneficial effect on affected arm motor function for some patients. Improvement in these patients correlated with a decrease in cortical maps on the contralesional side, as derived from transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS) evoked potentials, which was interpreted as a restoration of balance between the hemispheres. ⁷⁶ When APBT was applied to prime the motor system prior to other arm training and compared to a group only receiving arm training, no difference on arm motor function was found immediately after the intervention; however a beneficial long-term effect was shown in patients in the chronic phase post stroke. ⁸³ Studies combining robot-assisted training with bimanual training suggest an improvement in strength and arm motor function, but transfer to activities of daily living could not be demonstrated. ⁸⁴

To date the largest comparison study of bilateral and unilateral arm training (n = 106) by Morris et al. (2008) is also one of the few studies where subacute patients (2-4 weeks post onset) trained on function related tasks, such as placing pegs and lifting a glass to the mouth. The patients trained either by using both hands symmetrically or the paretic hand only. The authors found no superiority of bilateral training on arm function as assessed using ARAT, but rather an advantage for unilateral training with regard to dexterity as assessed by the Nine Hole Peg Test (NHPT) and a dexterity

subscale of the ARAT. There were no differences with regard to initial severity of paresis either.⁸⁵ As the authors themselves state, performing functional tasks in a simultaneous manner by both hands may be somewhat artificial, since those tasks are preferably performed unilaterally or in a bimanual complementary manner.

Impairment-oriented training is not based on bimanual interactions, but does focus on the training of the affected arm without any restraint of the non-affected. It comprises two different approaches according to the severity of paresis. Arm Basis training for patients with severe arm paresis is based on regaining motor control in successive stages, starting with repetitive single joint movements without weight bearing and advancing to multi-joint movements including postural control. The second approach, Arm Ability Training, comprises advanced functional activities and is targeted at patients with mild arm paresis, who lack speed and precision. Similarly to CIMT, repetitive and varied training with different levels of difficulty is a key concept. Studies have demonstrated promising results.^{86, 87}

Several systematic reviews on the efficacy of bimanual training have been published during the last years. These have revealed ambiguous results and varying quality of methodology of the studies that were included. A Cochrane review by Coupar et al. (2010) could not confirm any superiority of simultaneous bilateral training compared to other rehabilitation or placebo. The authors note the poor methodological quality, such as lack of proper randomization procedures and lack of control groups.⁸⁸ These conclusions are in contrast to other reviews by Cauraugh et al. (2010), and Summers et al. (2006) where the authors found support for bimanual training when compared to different control treatments including standard care.^{89, 90} Some evidence for improvement of arm motor function in patients with chronic stroke was found by Latimer et al. (2010), but the studies included were mostly cohort studies without adequate control intervention.⁹¹ The most recent review by van Delden et al. (2012), which only included RCTs, compared unimanual with simultaneous bimanual training and similarly to Coupar et al. found no superiority of bimanual training.⁹² Interestingly, the authors looked at subgroups classified by severity of paresis and time post stroke and, in the chronic phase post stroke, found a marginally positive effect for unilateral training CIMT and mCIMT for patients with mild paresis.

All in all, the results of different studies and systematic reviews are inconclusive. Both unimanual and bimanual training seem to improve arm motor function, the challenge is to identify subgroups that may benefit more from one or other of the approaches. Reliable comparisons are only possible when experimental and control groups receive dose-matched training.

1.4.3 Action observation and mental practice

Mirror neurons

In studies with macaques using single neuron recordings it was demonstrated that there are neurons in the premotor cortex area F5 that discharge not only when the monkey executes an action but also when it observes an action. These so-called mirror neurons constitute an overlap of the visual system and the motor system. The term mirror neurons or mirror neuron system does not describe a separate entity, but rather a "mechanism intrinsic to most motor-related cortical areas".⁹³ Seminal studies by Rizzolatti, Gallesi and others revealed that mirror neurons not only reflect the actions of others, but that they are able to interpret and add missing parts of actions, provided that they are familiar with the observed action or have enough clues to deduce the intention. ⁹⁴⁻⁹⁷

After the discovery of neurons with mirror properties in macaques it seemed natural to look for similar mechanisms in humans. Evidence for the existence of neurons with mirror properties in humans has derived from electrophysiological studies using magnet encephalography (MEG) and transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS).⁹⁸ Subsequent neuroimaging studies applying functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) and positron emission tomography (PET) allowed a more exact spatial localization of neural circuits responding to both movement execution and observation and even showed a roughly somatotopic organization.^{99, 100} According to a recent meta-analysis the following brain regions are consistently found to respond to the observation and execution of movements in humans: The inferior and superior parietal

lobe, inferior frontal gyrus and the dorsal and ventral premotor cortex.¹⁰¹ This network, the parietofrontal mirror system, is involved in the recognition of motor acts, and is assumed to provide the neurobiological basis for imitation learning and action understanding. Other mirror systems are suggested for the recognition of emotions.¹⁰²

Some key features for the activation of neural systems with both visual and motor properties have been identified in studies with healthy participants. Recognizing an action as part of our own motor repertoire makes understanding and interpretation easier and causes a stronger activation of cortical areas than watching unfamiliar actions.¹⁰³ Nevertheless the mirror neuron system seems to play an important role in imitation learning of novel movements. Some studies found a stronger activation for unpractised compared to practised movements in early stages of the learning process.^{104, 105}

Observing or imagining an action involves creating a mental representation and activating a "vocabulary of acts" as Rizzolatti called it. ⁹⁸ These mental representations may provide a pathway to the rehabilitation of motor function after stroke when the execution of motor acts is impaired.

Action observation and mental practice as treatment approaches for stroke

Jeannerod's "Simulation hypothesis" claims that movement execution, motor imagery and action observation are all driven by the same basic mechanism. Motor imagery and action observation are conceived as "offline" operations. ¹⁰⁶ The last decade has seen much interest in the possible benefit of neurons with mirror properties within neurorehabilitation. Motor imagery (MI), also called mental practice, and action observation (AO) have been suggested as a means of rehabilitation by several authors. ¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹

In MI, patients are usually prompted to mentally rehearse motor actions, sometimes accompanied by auditory and visual cues. ¹¹⁰ In AO studies, patients watch motor actions, often daily life activities, viewed on a DVD. ^{107, 111} Both approaches can be applied in motor rehabilitation after stroke as preparation for active exercises for patients with severe paresis, or as an adjunct to conventional therapy for patients who

are capable of active movement. According to a meta-analysis of 6 studies with 119 patients some benefit in favour of MI was suggested when combined with physical training ¹¹², while a recent larger RCT failed to corroborate a therapeutic benefit of MI when applied solely. ¹¹⁰ The application of MI in a research context has disadvantages, as there is no control of what patients actually do, and the ability to imagine motor acts could be impaired as a result of the brain damage. ^{113, 114}

Action observation, where patients watch video clips of different arm movements has been tried out in several small scale studies with patients in the chronic phase, ^{111, 115, 116} and in a recent large study with patients in the subacute phase post stroke. ¹⁰⁷ In the latter study, patients (n = 102) watched video clips of daily life hand actions, and subsequently tried to execute the same activities with the affected arm. The experimental group experienced larger improvement of arm motor function than a control group receiving the same amount of arm training and sham AO. Further research on mirror neurons and on the potential benefit of mirror neuron based treatment for different groups of patients appears worthwhile.

1.4.4 Technology-based arm rehabilitation

Virtual reality and robotics

Several virtual-reality and robot-assisted training systems have been introduced to rehabilitation, promising to improve strength, endurance and motor function, while at the same time maintaining motivation and providing entertainment. Those systems offer advantages such as the possibility of increasing dose and intensity of therapy and enhancing the motivation of patients by adding a playful element. ¹¹⁷ Furthermore, many systems allow stepwise adaptation to increasing motor abilities, thus maintaining the challenging character of the tasks while offering different forms of feedback. Various systems employing virtual reality technology have been developed during the last years, from virtual shopping malls to adapted, commercially-available gaming systems, and virtual reality systems based on activating the mirror neuron system. ¹¹⁸⁻¹²⁰ Several studies support the application of virtual reality methods to upper limb rehabilitation, but large-scale clinical evidence is still lacking for the superiority of

these methods compared to traditional rehabilitation as reviewed by Laver et al. (2011) and Henderson et al. (2007). ^{121, 122}

Robot-assisted treatment systems also provide the possibility of enhancing the intensity of training and at the same time provide assistance when the patient is not able, or only partially able, to perform a movement. They are often applied in combination with virtual reality. Several devices have been developed, with various degrees of freedom, some emphasising shoulder and elbow movements, others wrist and finger or whole arm movements. ¹²³⁻¹²⁵ Robotic devices can be divided into exoskeleton devices which are placed on the patient's arm and hand, inducing movement directly to the corresponding joints in defined degrees of freedom; and end-effector based robots, e.g. gloves with sensors, which allow the patient to choose a movement strategy, while often offering some support against gravity. ¹²³

Especially interesting with regard to motor relearning after stroke appear to be interactive systems which can provide support when needed and can interact with the patient's actions. Some systems are limited to simple movements, such as wrist flexion/extension, while others train more complex movements similar to daily life activities. What may benefit the individual patient depends on his/her motor and cognitive function. Other crucial factors are the simplicity of the appliance and the variety of tasks offered, e.g. the degree to which they can be individually tailored. Timmermans et al. (2009) provide some evidence derived from motor learning research that may help both designers and clinicians to gauge the possible benefit of technology-based rehabilitation systems.¹²⁵

Generally speaking the results from different studies applying technology-based arm rehabilitation are promising, but many devices are still to be evaluated in RCTs.

1.5 NEUROIMAGING IN STROKE RECOVERY

1.5.1 Some basics

Neuroimaging techniques have become a widely used method of studying the brain in health and disease and can provide fascinating insights into plasticity. A plethora of studies investigating brain reorganization after stroke has emerged during the last two decades, but it is still not common to transfer results from brain imaging studies into clinical practice. ^{126, 127} This is partly because the patterns of reorganization vary, and partly because it is difficult to interpret them. There are several non-invasive methods to study plasticity in brain function following stroke, such as functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), positron emission tomography (PET), electroencephalography (EEG), transcranial magnetic stimulation (TMS), and magnetoencephalography (MEG), to name some of the most important. Each technique has advantages and disadvantages. While fMRI and PET are superior with regard to spatial resolution and allow an exact localization in the range of millimeters, EEG and TMS are superior in terms of temporal resolution, reflecting brain processes in fractions of seconds. ¹²⁶ The following paragraph concentrates on studies where fMRI was applied, because this method was used in this thesis.

When patients with stroke are admitted to hospital, MRI is a standard diagnostic tool to determine the location and the extent of the infarction. Functional MRI is usually applied in research only to study functional changes. The basic signal origin is the same for all MRI images, namely that it is the magnetic properties of protons in hydrogen atoms attached to water molecules that are probed. Protons are positively charged and have an intrinsic property called spin. When exposed to a strong magnetic field, such as in an MRI bore (typical clinical field strengths of 1.5 or 3 Tesla), the protons align with the field around them due to the spin and set up themselves an internal magnetic field.

A second external magnetic field is then applied for a brief time, hence the name radio frequency pulse, to manipulate (excite) the internal magnetic field that the protons set up. Immediately after the pulse excitation, the protons will relax from this excited energy state back to the original energy state. In doing so, an electric signal can be measured that is caught by a receiver and can be translated into an image. The strength of the measured signal is tissue dependent due to differences in the relaxation process of the protons in various tissues. To describe these differences mathematically, two timing constants T1 and T2 are defined. It is because T1 and T2 differ between tissues, i.e. gray matter versus white matter in the brain, and between healthy tissues various disease conditions, i.e. infarctions, tumors, inflammation, that has allowed MRI to have a tremendous impact on clinical diagnostics and research. Although the T1 and T2 timing constants can be measured for each tissue, it is more common to report on for instance "T1weighted images", i.e. images that emphasize the T1 properties of the tissue. Two additional time constants, the echo time (TE) and the repletion time (TR) are used to determine the degree of T1- or T2 weighting the resulting image will have. This is why TE and TR are reported in imaging studies to describe the experimental setting rather than T1 or T2.



a) Protons are aligned with the external magnetic field (β 0), and set up an internal field (NMM)to which a radiofrequency pulse (RF) is applied b) After the application of the radio frequency pulse, an electric signal can be measured by the receiver

Figure 1. Signal generation in MRI. Illustration by M. Ystad, with permission. ¹²⁸

Functional MRI is an indirect measure of neural activity. ¹²⁶ It is based on differences in the magnetic properties of blood in the capillary vessels in the brain, the so- called blood oxygenation level dependent contrast (BOLD), that is imaged. ¹²⁹ Neuronal activity in the brain requires oxygen which is attached to hemoglobin and

transported by red blood cells. Oxygenated and de-oxygenated hemoglobin have different magnetic properties, oxygenated hemoglobin is diamagnetic, i.e. with masked magnetic properties, while de-oxygenated hemoglobin is paramagnetic, i.e. the magnetic properties are emphasized. The firing of neurons in a particular brain region causes an increased level of oxygenated hemoglobin in the draining parts of the capillaries, since more oxygenated blood is supplied than needed. Thus, the BOLD signal is an expression of the balance between the two forms of hemoglobin and echoes the increased consumption of oxygen in certain brain regions. Since BOLD signal differences are very small (1-5%) during behavioural or mental tasks, many repetitions are required. Functional MRI provides valuable insights into the involvement of brain regions and neural networks in neural processes both in healthy persons and persons with neurological disorders.

1.5.2 Functional MRI and motor recovery after stroke

Functional MRI enables researchers to observe neuroplasticity in a much more direct way than would be possible using clinical parameters alone. The term neural plasticity describes the ability of the central nervous system to change and adapt as a response to environmental changes, learning processes or disease throughout life. ¹³⁰ This ability can be ascribed to diffused networks and redundant connectivity that allow the brain to remap and restructure according to changed conditions, at least to a certain degree. Stroke and other brain injuries induce reorganization processes through which the brain attempts to compensate for loss of function. Reorganization happens spontaneously, but can also be influenced or facilitated by rehabilitative treatment. ^{130,} ¹³¹ The degree of function regained can vary greatly, depending on the severity of the initial paresis, time post stroke, lesion location and integrity of the cortico-spinal tract, to name the most important factors. ^{132, 133} Nevertheless, three principal mechanisms have been identified as described by Johansen-Berg (2010): 1) Changes within primary motor areas, which means a shift to dorsal or ventral within M1 when moving an affected limb, 2) increased recruitment of secondary motor areas, such as the supplementary motor area (SMA), premotor cortex (PMC) and parietal areas, and 3) an increased activation of different areas of the undamaged hemisphere.¹²⁶

Longitudinal fMRI studies provide interesting insights into how task-dependent activation patterns may change over time after stroke. The involvement of the contralesional hemisphere has been a matter of debate, but there is some agreement that better outcome is associated with greater activation in the ipsilesional hemisphere during movement of the paretic UE. ^{126, 134} The laterality index is an expression for the degree of unilateral or bilateral hemispheric involvement when performing unimanual motor tasks with the affected arm. A higher laterality index reflects less bihemispheric involvement, and a more normal activation. Ward et al. (2003) studied task-related activation in 8 patients without damage to the primary motor area (M1) and 4 control subjects. When performing a motor task, the related activation in relevant motor areas of both hemispheres decreased over time proportional to an improvement of motor function. ¹³⁵ A cross-sectional study by the same authors that included 20 patients > 3months post stroke and 26 control subjects revealed an increased task-related recruitment of bilateral brain regions in patients with poor recovery compared to patients with good recovery, who showed a more lateralized, ipsilesional activation. ¹³⁶ An increased involvement of the ipsilesional M1, but also increased activation in secondary contralesional somatosensory cortex and bilateral somatosensory association areas, was observed in well-recovered patients in a study by Askim et al. (2008). ¹³⁷ The patients underwent intensive early task-related physical therapy which may have influenced the cortical reorganization process.

There is evidence for treatment-induced changes in neuroplasticity. Boyd et al. 2010 examined whether cortical reorganization is influenced by the rehabilitative training provided. ¹³⁸ They compared the performance of a targeting task in two groups of patients with chronic stroke. One group received task-specific training and the other group unspecific arm training sessions between the first and the second fMRI exam. Only the task-specific training resulted in an increased laterality index, which led to the conclusion that task-specific training may prevent maladaptive changes. A review encompassing 5 fMRI studies and several other neuroimaging studies corroborated the correlation between motor improvement and plastic changes as a result of targeted treatment interventions, such as Constraint-induced movement therapy. ¹³¹

In most fMRI studies post stroke the patients have performed active motor tasks during the fMRI exam. This implies that the subjects at least to some degree should be able to move the hemiparetic arm and excludes a larger number of patients such as patients with paralysis, or patients unable to follow instructions. Resting state fMRI provides the opportunity to investigate changes in connectivity when the patient is at rest without an imposed task. ¹³⁹ Both functional connectivity, describing the temporal connection between brain regions, and functional connectivity, describing the influence different brain regions have upon each other, can be assessed.

Interesting findings suggest a correlation between intact functional and effective connectivity and motor performance. In a study by Carter et al. (2010) a significant correlation between impaired arm motor function and a loss of interhemispheric functional connectivity in acute stroke patients was found.¹⁴⁰ In a subsequent study by the same group it was suggested that the extent of cortico-spinal tract damage influences resting state connectivity which again is related to motor performance. ¹⁴¹ A correlation between corticospinal tract damage and resting state connectivity was only observed when the damage was less than 10 %. Wang et al. observed a random mode, less effective connectivity in the motor network of patients with stroke as compared to healthy controls. ¹⁴² Patients with significant motor impairments had diminished effective connectivity from fronto-parietal control regions to the motor system during the resting state as demonstrated in a study by Inman et al. (2012). ¹⁴³ The researchers suggest that the loss of control of high-level control systems may contribute to impaired motor function.

These studies illustrate that a stroke can have widespread effects on several task- dependent and task-negative networks. Potential mirror neuron networks may also be influenced by stroke. Neuroimaging studies in healthy persons revealed that brain areas such as the frontal premotor cortex, the parietal cortex and a temporo-occipital network are frequently activated when executing an action and also when only observing it, ¹⁴⁴ but there are no studies examining longitudinal changes of an execution / observation matching system in patients with stroke. This highlights the need for a better understanding of the processes occurring in neurons with mirror

properties, especially when considering that promising new treatment approaches are based on the mirror neuron system. ¹⁰⁷

In summary it can be stated that fMRI provides a means to examine the changes stroke imposes on several activity-dependent and resting state networks. Stroke can have a widespread impact on remote brain areas and disturbs the intricate interplay of different networks. With this knowledge in mind it may be easier to understand impairments that cannot be explained by structural damage alone. At the moment it is still difficult to determine the clinical significance of the changing patterns of brain activation, but in the long term it may be possible to target rehabilitative approaches according to observed network changes.¹⁴⁵

Literature study was completed 18.August 2012.

2. OBJECTIVES

The overall objective of this PhD project was to explore different aspects regarding recovery of arm function in the subacute phase post stroke. This was realized by studying patients with paresis of an arm during the first 3 months after stroke onset and assessing their eligibility for CIMT. In a randomized controlled trial two intensive training alternatives for patients with impaired arm motor function were compared. In the third study longitudinal changes of neurons with mirror properties were assessed with fMRI on the background of new treatment approaches targeting a putative mirror neuron system.

The aims of papers I - III were:

Paper I

To assess the eligibility for Constraint-induced movement therapy (CIMT) and modifications of CIMT for patients with impaired arm function in the subacute phase post stroke.

Paper II

To compare the effect of modified Constraint-induced movement therapy to taskrelated bimanual training for patients in the subacute phase post stroke.

Paper III

To study changes over time and response to action observation in potential mirror neurons in patients in the subacute phase post stroke.
3. METHODS

3.1 DESIGN

In all three studies a longitudinal repeated measures design was used to assess change over time. In the first and third study the change was examined within one group, in the third study the change was also compared to a non-impaired control group; while in the second study two groups were compared in a randomized controlled trial.

3.2 PARTICIPANTS

Paper I

For the first study all patients with a diagnosis of stroke admitted to Haukeland University Hospital and Haraldsplass Diaconal Hospital in Bergen, Norway between November 2008 and October 2009 were screened for inclusion. If they suffered from impaired arm motor function 1-2 weeks after stroke they were invited to participate in a series of repeated testing of arm motor function. Those patients whose medical and cognitive status did not allow motor testing during their stay at the hospital were only registered as suffering from arm paresis. A sample of 100 patients was registered, of whom 54 patients were not able to participate in the motor assessments mostly due to cognitive impairments. The remaining 46 patients were assessed 3 times during the first three months post stroke.

Paper II

For the second study comparing mCIMT to dose-matched bimanual training all patients with a diagnosis of stroke admitted to Haukeland University Hospital and Haraldsplass Diaconal Hospital in Bergen, Norway between March 2009 and June 2011 were screened for inclusion. They were offered participation in this study 2-16 weeks post stroke if they had experienced impaired arm motor function, and were medically stable and cognitively able to comply with the treatment protocol. Motor criteria applied included the ability to extend the wrist and fingers of the affected arm at least 10 degrees. After receiving written and verbal information, the patients were given at least 24 hours to consider their participation. Of 453 patients screened for inclusion 414 did not meet the inclusion criteria. From the remaining 39 patients 9 declined to participate. The thirty patients who accepted were randomized to one of the two treatment groups. All assessments were completed in 28 patients, two were dropouts, one in each group.

Paper III

All patients admitted to the two local hospitals between July 2010 and September 2011 were screened and invited to participate in the fMRI study if they had suffered a first time stroke during the previous 15 days, were medically stable, able to give informed consent and continued to experience some degree of impaired arm motor function. Exclusion criteria were severe cognitive deficits, a former stroke (with the exception of clinically silent lacunar infarcts) and special fMRI relevant criteria, such as metal implants and claustrophobia. Of 32 patients approached, 21 consented to participate. An age and sex-matched convenience sample recruited from colleagues and using e-mail advertisements served as a control group.

Paper	N	Eligibility criteria
Paper I: Recovery of upper extremity motor function post stroke with regard to eligibility for Constraint- Induced Movement Therapy	46	 Diagnosis of stroke Persistent impaired arm motor function 1-2 weeks post stroke No major cognitive problems, Mini Mental State Examination less than 20 Medically stable Able and willing to participate in motor testing
Paper II: Is modified Constraint-induced movement therapy more effective than bimanual training in improving upper extremity motor function in the subacute phase post stroke: A randomized controlled trial	30	 First-time stroke or former stroke with no residual motor impairment Between 2-16 weeks post stroke At least 10 degrees wrist and finger extension, but less than 52 points on the Action Research Arm Test No other orthopedic or neurological conditions that limit participation No severe cognitive problems, defined by less than 24 on Mini Mental State Examination Able and willing to participate
Paper III: Plasticity and response to action observation: A longitudinal fMRI study of potential mirror neurons in subacute stroke patients	18 patients 18 age- and sex- matched healthy controls	 First-time or earlier lacunar infarct without residuals Inclusion within 15 days after stroke onset Impaired arm motor function compared to normative data of adults of same age and sex, assessed by Nine Hole Peg Test Able to transfer with the help of one person No fMRI specific contraindications No major cognitive problems, defined by less than 20 on Mini Mental State Examination No history of neurological disease No fMRI specific contraindications

Table1. Eligibility criteria for inclusion of patients and healthy controls

Paper I	Recovery of arm motor function and eligibility for CIMT			
	All patients N=100	Patients tested N=46	Patients not tested N=54	
Age (y), mean (SD)	72.2 (13.5)	69.4 (15.4)	78.4 (10.2)	
Sex, male / female, n Side of paresis,	63 / 37	29 / 17	34 / 20	
right / left, n	58 / 42	28 / 18	30 / 24	
Paper II	Modified CIMT compared to bimanual training			
	All patients	mCIMT	Bimanual training	
	N = 30	N=14	N=16	
Age (y), mean (SD) Sex; male / female,	63.0 (11.6)	61.0 (10.0)	64.8 (12.8)	
n (%) Side of paresis	19 (63.3) /11 (36.7)	11(78.6)/3(21.4)	8 (50.0) / 8 (50.0)	
right / left, n (%) Type of stroke infarction /	12 (40.0) / 18 (60.0)	6 (42.9) / 8 (57.1)	6 (37.5) / 10 (62.5)	
haemorrhage, n (%) Time between stroke and intervention in	25 (83.3)/ 5 (16.7)	13 (92.9)/ 1 (7.1)	12 (75.0)/ 4 (25.0)	
days, mean (SD)	43.7 (33.8)	48.43 (39.3)	36.9 (25.1)	
Paper III	Response to action observation			
	Patients N = 18	Healthy participants N = 18		
Age (y), mean (SD) Sex	60.7 (11.6)	60.6 (11.9)		
Male / female, n (%) Side of paresis	12 (67) / 6 (33)	11 (61) / 7 (39)		
Right /left,n, n (%) Type of stroke	6 (33) / 12 (67)			
Subcortical / cortical Time between stroke and 1rst scan in days.	14 (78) / 4 (22)			
mean (SD)	8.9 (4.1)			

Table 2. Baseline characteristics of the participants included in papers I – III

3.3 PROCEDURES

3.3.1 Procedures paper I

All patients admitted with a diagnosis of stroke as confirmed by CT or MRI were screened and asked to participate in motor testing if they continued to experience impaired arm motor function 1-2 weeks after stroke. This limit was set to exclude patients with most spontaneous recovery, who would not need further rehabilitation. The first assessment usually took place at the hospital, with a few exceptions when the patient had already been discharged and was followed by an ambulatory team, or had been transferred to a rehabilitation unit. The second and third assessment took place at an outpatient clinic or a rehabilitation unit or the patient's home, depending on the whereabouts of the patient. The test equipment was easily portable. To limit travelling time and costs only patients living in the municipality of Bergen or in surrounding municipalities within 30 km distance were included. The patients were first assessed with the Action Research Arm Test and then with the Nine Hole Peg Test, the same sequence at each test session. The presence or absence of cognitive problems was evaluated with the Mini Mental State Examination; unless more comprehensive neuropsychological testing had already been conducted.

3.3.2 Procedures paper II

Patients 2-16 weeks post stroke and fulfilling the inclusion criteria as described in 3.2 were offered participation. Blinded assessments were conducted pre-treatment, post-treatment and 3 months after treatment by experienced physiotherapists or occupational therapists. After the first assessment the patients were randomized to one of two groups, modified Constraint-induced movement therapy or bimanual training. Randomization was achieved by a computerized random numbers generator. Blocks of 4 were chosen to facilitate an even distribution to the treatment alternatives. Opaque, sealed envelopes were prepared by a person not involved in the study. The treatment started as soon as possible after inclusion, usually on the next working day. This RCT has been registered at ClinicalTrials.gov, identification number NCT 00851123.

Common features of the treatment in both groups

The intervention was intended to provide an intensive training programme that is easily applicable at different levels of the health care system. Therapist contact regarding functional arm training was 4 hours / week. The patients received other necessary rehabilitation according to their individual needs. Key concepts applied to both groups were derived from motor learning and CIMT principles, namely massed practice and shaping.^{44, 146} To achieve sufficient intensity, despite the limited therapist contact both treatment groups were supposed to follow an individually tailored selftraining programme and use the affected arm at least 2-3 hours a day. The exercises were adapted to the patients' increasing motor abilities at least 3 times during the intervention. When possible, daily life activities were proposed in the exercises, but strength and mobilization exercises were also included. The self-training programme consisted mainly of domestic chores and personal care, since these activities are relevant for everybody. According to the patient's interests and needs office work and leisure activities were also trained, e.g. drilling and screwing. The written exercises usually comprised different difficulty levels according to shaping principles.⁴⁴ Difficulty could be increased by e.g. using smaller or heavier objects, placing objects further away or higher up, or increasing speed or number of repetitions. Behavioural enforcements derived from the CIMT concept¹⁴⁷ to increase adherence and compliance were also applied to both groups, and comprised the following elements:

- Contract: A formal contract describing briefly the content of the intervention had to be signed by the patient and the therapist. The patient had to formulate 2-3 specific goals for the training. The contract is intended to increase the patient's awareness of the expected role as an active participant in his/her own rehabilitation. Table 3 shows an English translation of the main points used in both groups, the points only applicable for the mCIMT are indicated in parenthesis. Contract on intensive bimanual training / modified Constraint-induced movement therapy

What the training comprises

- The training will be offered for a period of 4 weeks. It is important that you do your home exercises for several hours every day during this time.
- You will receive training for your arm with a therapist for 4 hours / week as well as a written self-training programme. The training will be adapted to your motor abilities
- You are asked to exercise 2-3 hours daily on your own, including week-ends.
- You will be given a log book to write down how many hours you spend exercising.
- You will be given a log book to write down how many hours you spend exercising and how many hours you wear the mitt. (mCIMT group)
- You will be tested once before the training starts and once afterwards, and a final time three months after completion of the training.

I,...(name)...., want to participate in the bimanual / mCIMT training. I agree to exercise for 2-3 hours every day. I am aware that adherence to the training schedule is important for the result.

I want to achieve the following goals:					
Date	Signature patient	Signature therapist			

- A log book was used in which the patients had to write down the hours spent exercising, which encompassed the use of the affected arm in daily life activities. The log book could also be used to express positive or negative experiences with the training. It was regularly checked by the therapist to remind the patient of the importance to use his/her affected arm and to discuss possible obstacles.

Special features of the mCIMT training

The main difference between the two groups was restraint of the less affected arm in the mCIMT group. Patients randomized to mCIMT training were expected to wear a mitt on the less affected hand for at least 4 hours a day. The patients could choose when they wore the mitt, but were requested to wear it during periods of activity. The therapist provided suggestions of relevant daily life activities, which were tried out and modified if necessary. The focus was on unimanual exercises with the affected arm, both when training with a therapist or in the self-training programme.

Some examples:



Figure 2. Different tasks used in mCIMT training

Special features of the bimanual training

Training in the bimanual group focused more on exercises where both arms were used in a natural context and no restraining mitt was worn. Because the patients included had moderate to mild arm paresis, simple repetitive bimanual movements did not seem adequate and a task-related approach was chosen. Typical exercises included symmetrical bimanual movements such as catching and pitching a ball, lifting objects, and pushing and pulling. Asymmetrical movements included exercises such as unscrewing a lid, where the non-dominant hand stabilizes the object and the dominant hand manipulates the lid. The patients were especially reminded of the importance of not letting the less-affected arm compensate too much for the weaker arm.

Some examples:



Figure 3. Different tasks used in bimanual training

3.3.3 Procedures paper III

The healthy control participants were invited to a single fMRI exam. The patients were examined twice, the first time within 15 days after stroke onset, and the second time

after 3 months when a plateau of motor improvement is expected. ¹⁴ They received standard rehabilitation except for one patient, who also participated in the second study with intensive arm training. The participants were familiarized with the fMRI protocol and the objects used during the exam outside the scanner. The same protocol was applied to all patients on both occasions and to the healthy participants once. The patients underwent motor assessment using the Action Research Arm Test and Nine Hole Peg Test. The fMRI paradigm consisted of 3 different motor tasks, a resting state fMRI and an action observation sequence. For the motor and action observation conditions a block design was applied. Each active and rest block lasted for 30 seconds and was repeated 4 times.

The motor tasks comprised the following conditions:

1. Right vs. left: The participants had to squeeze a balloon alternately with the left and the right hand

2. Affected vs. rest for the patients or dominant vs. rest for healthy controls: The balloon had to be squeezed with the affected or dominant side respectively, interleaved with periods of rest

3. Bimanual vs. rest: A cylindrical device had to be twisted, interleaved with periods of rest.

During the action observation condition the patients watched a pair of hands executing the same bimanual task that they had performed earlier. The video-clip showed alternately movement and stills, where the hands were only holding the device. The patients were instructed to watch carefully, but not to move actively, which was ensured by visual inspection. The action observation sequence was embedded in two resting state blocks. The unilateral movement and resting state data are not part of this thesis.

3.4 OUTCOME MEASURES PAPERS I - III

Outcome measures in papers I and II were all related to the assessment of arm motor function, since this was the main and only focus in these studies. In paper III also fMRI was applied.

The Action Research Arm Test (ARAT) is one of the most commonly applied assessment tools internationally for motor function of the whole arm after CNS damage.¹⁴⁸ The ARAT was the main outcome of papers I and II. It was developed by Lyle (1981) based on the Upper Extremity Function Test by Carroll (1965).¹⁴⁹ It consists of 19 items, structured in 4 sub-tests to assess both proximal and distal arm motor function. The items are related to activities of daily living. The hierarchical structure of the ARAT allows skipping of some of the items if a person has guite good or very poor motor function, thus making the test procedure less burdensome for the patient and time-saving for the therapist. Test-retest and inter-rater reliability have been found to be very high for patients in the chronic and subacute phase after stroke, ICC and Spearman's rho > 0.95. ^{150, 151} Criterion validity and face validity was demonstrated by high correlation with the Fugl-Meyer Motor Assessment and Box and Blocks test, Spearman's rho > 0.92^{151} and Motor assessment scale (MAS) > 0.96^{152} . A minimal clinically important change (MIC) is reported to be 5.7 (10 %) on the 0-57 point scale for patients in the chronic or sub-acute phase post stroke. ¹⁵³ For patients very early after a stroke (< 2 weeks) a higher MIC has been recommended, since larger changes are expected to happen in this phase. ¹⁵⁴. The ARAT covers a broad range of difficulty levels but has shown some floor and ceiling effects. ^{151, 155}

The Nine Hole Peg Test (NHPT) is a timed measure where the patient has to place 9 pegs into holes and remove them again. Scores are expressed as pegs / second or pegs / minute. The NHPT is used to assess manual dexterity at a relatively high level and can detect further improvement of manual dexterity in patients who obtained a maximum score on ARAT. Psychometric properties have been reported to be good to satisfactory in a review study by Croarkin et al. (2004). ¹⁵⁶ Test-retest reliability for patients in the subacute and chronic phase after stroke was found to be very high, ICC > 0.85. ¹⁵⁷ Responsiveness to change has been indicated in a study of stroke patients.

¹⁵⁸ Normative data for different age groups have been established, which makes a comparison between patients and age-matched healthy persons possible. ¹⁵⁹

The Motor Activity Log (MAL) reflects the patient's own experience of the use of the affected arm. This questionnaire is a structured interview where the patient is asked to report his / her impression of the amount of use and the quality of use of the affected arm on a 5 point scale when performing 30 different daily life activities. The psychometric properties have been considered satisfactory with regard to internal consistency, alpha > 0.88, and construct validity when correlated with ARAT, Spearman's rho = 0.63. ¹⁶⁰ A revised version omitting two of the 30 items has demonstrated high reliability, r = 0.82 and construct validity, 0.72. The correlation with accelerometry was moderate, r = 0.52. ¹⁶¹

3.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

SPSS 19 (SPSS, Inc, Chicago, Illinois) was used for analysing the data from the clinical assessments in all three papers. Statistical Parametrical Mapping (SPM8) analysis software package (Wellcome Department of Cognitive Neurology) running under MATLAB 7.7 (Mathworks) was used for statistical analysis and preprocessing of the fMRI data in paper III.

3.5.1 Statistical analyses paper I

Descriptive statistics were used to describe baseline characteristics and the status of arm motor function at baseline, after 4 weeks and after 3 months. Baseline characteristics were compared between the patients who were able to participate in motor assessments and the patients who were not, using Chi-square tests for categorical data (sex, side of lesion) and independent samples t-test for ratio data (age). ARAT scores were categorized into three severity subgroups, and the proportion of patients belonging to each subgroup at different points in time was graphically depicted in error bars, showing confidence interval and mean. To illustrate the flow of patients from one subgroup to another during the time course of recovery, frequencies of ARAT scores within the subgroups at each point in time were counted and also graphically depicted. A general assessment of change was performed with paired ttests for ARAT scores and NHPT scores.

3.5.2 Statistical analyses paper II

Descriptive statistics were used to describe patient characteristics. Differences at baseline between patients randomized to the mCIMT group or bimanual training group were examined by chi-square tests for categorical data and independent samples *t*-tests for continuous data. Normal distribution and homogeneity of variance was explored. Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) is an extension of t-tests comparing the ratio of within group variability to between group variability and taking into account the influence of covariates. ¹⁶² ANCOVA was applied to examine differences between the groups at post treatment and at follow-up assessment after adjusting for the influence of baseline scores on ARAT and NHPT as a covariate. As there were two drop-outs, one in each group, intention to treat analysis was conducted for ARAT and NHPT data: Both drop-outs occurred shortly after inclusion, therefore the mean change at post treatment and follow-up in the respective group was added to the baseline to conduct an intention to treat analysis (ITT). ITT was compared to per protocol analysis (ANCOVA) with actually available data to examine possible differences of p-values.

3.5.3 Statistical analyses paper III

Due to the small sample size, non-parametric statistics were applied for the clinical assessments. Clinical change in ARAT and NHPT scores of the patient group from first to second exam was examined by Wilcoxon signed rank tests. Functional MRI pre-processing included several processes that prepare the raw data from the scanner for statistical analyses. Slice-timing corrections were performed because all slices of a volume were acquired at slightly different time points. Data were normalized to a Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) template to allow group comparisons. Smoothing to average of data points with their neighbours to improve the signal to noise ratio (SNR) and thereby sensitivity was performed. General linear modelling was applied using a fixed-effect model for individual patients and a random-effect based on individual analyses for group analysis. Voxel-wise t-statistic was used for each

individual to determine areas with statistically significant activation. Change within group was assessed using a one-sample t-test with a significance level of p < 0.001 and a minimum spatial extent of 30 voxels. Differences between groups were examined with two-sample t-tests with an uncorrected significance level of p<0.001.

4. SUMMARY OF RESULTS

4.1 PAPER I

Recovery of upper extremity motor function with regard to eligibility for Constraint-induced movement therapy (CIMT)

Of a total of 100 patients more than half were considered ineligible for CIMT early after stroke, mostly due to cognitive problems. Upper extremity motor function in the 46 patients studied over time improved considerably from the first assessment 1-2 weeks after stroke (T1) to the last assessment 3 months after stroke (T3). Scores for the Action Research Arm Test (ARAT) increased from a mean score of 25.2 (SD 21.5) at T1 to 38.0 (SD 24.7) at T3, p < .001. The number of patients eligible for CIMT, defined as the ability to extend the wrist and 3 fingers at least 10 degrees as a lower limit, and an ARAT of more than 51 as an upper limit, decreased during the course of the first 3 months. While 21 of the 46 patients assessed at T1 would have met the motor criteria, the number decreased to 14 at T2 (4 weeks after stroke) and further to 6 at T3 (3 months after stroke). A top score on ARAT was reached by 18 (45 %) of the patients at T3, and another 6 patients (15%) reached a score of more than 51, implying reasonable motor function. After 3 months only 6 patients who would have been considered eligible remained. Notably, 3 of these patients who had not met the motor criteria at T2, 4 weeks after stroke, thus regained sufficient arm motor function to participate in CIMT relatively late after stroke. All patients received standard rehabilitation, comprising physical and occupational therapy.

The results suggest that many patients reach satisfactory motor function without special interventions, under the prerequisite that comprehensive standard rehabilitation is provided. CIMT may preferably be offered after the first month if pronounced motor impairments persist. Some patients with initially poor motor function will only at a

later stage in recovery acquire sufficient arm motor function to participate in CIMT or other forms of intensive task-related training and many patients have to be excluded due to cognitive problems.

4.2 PAPER II

Is modified constraint-induced movement therapy more effective than bimanual training in improving arm motor function in the subacute phase post stroke? Thirty patients 2 - 16 weeks post stroke were randomized to 4 weeks of mCIMT or bimanual training. Patients in the mCIMT group had to wear a mitt on the less affected arm for 4 hours a day and focussed on unimanual training, while patients in the bimanual training group were only cognitively stimulated to include their affected arm and focussed on bimanual training. Patients in both groups improved considerably, p < .001. However, no difference between the groups could be found at post-treatment or at follow up assessment after three months. The change score on ARAT, which was the main outcome measure, from pre-treatment to follow-up assessment was 17.77 (14.66) in the mCIMT group and 15.47 (13.59) in the bimanual training group, p = .891. The difference was not statistically significant, but there was a tendency toward more improvement at post-treatment in the bimanual group, which was evened out at follow-up assessment.



Figure 4. Error bars depicting mean scores and SD on Action Research Arm Test (ARAT) for both groups at pre-, post- and follow-up assessment.

Twelve patients showed clinically significant improvement (> 5.7 on ARAT) in each group, being 92 % of the mCIMT group and 80 % of the bimanual training group. This improvement could be maintained in 10 patients in each group at follow-up assessment, being 77 % of the mCIMT and 67 % of the bimanual group. No differences were found for the NHPT or the MAL.

According to a power calculation, a total of 60 patients had to be included. Due to problems with patient recruitment and a prolonged project period, an interimsanalysis was conducted. Because only minor differences between the groups were demonstrated, the study was terminated prematurely. Bimanual training was comparable effective as mCIMT in improving arm motor function in patients in the subacute phase post stroke, although we cannot know how much the patients would have improved without such intensive training.. Wearing a physical restraint does not seem necessary when patients are able to consciously involve the affected arm in exercises and daily life activities.

4.3 PAPER III

Plasticity and response to action observation: A longitudinal fMRI study of potential mirror neurons in patients with subacute stroke

In this study longitudinal changes of potential mirror neurons in 18 patients with impaired arm function in the subacute phase post stroke were assessed twice using fMRI; the first time within two weeks, and the second time 3 months post onset. Arm motor function was evaluated on both occasions with the ARAT and the NHPT. Functional MRI data from patients were compared to data from 18 age- and sexmatched neurologically healthy participants undergoing the same fMRI protocol.

The action observation condition, in which patients watched the same bimanual movement that they had executed earlier, elicited activations in several areas associated with the mirror neuron system. Distinct parietal and frontal clusters, such as BA 6 (premotor cortex), BA 4 (primary motor cortex) and BA 40 (inferior parietal

lobe) were involved. The spatial extent of activated clusters was reduced early after stroke compared to 3 months after and to healthy controls. Concomitant with an extension of activated clusters, arm motor function improved.

When looking for regions that were active both when executing and when observing the bilateral movement in the respective group, most overlap for all participants was found for the inferior parietal lobe, regarded as a higher order motor area. The premotor (BA 6) and area M1 (BA 4), superior parietal lobe (BA7), associated with complex sensory integration and movement planning, and insula, associated with body awareness were also involved across conditions.

The results of this study demonstrate that potential mirror neurons are activated early and at a later stage after stroke and that they may provide a means of accessing the motor system via treatment approaches, such as action observation.

5. DISCUSSION

5.1 DISCUSSION PAPER I

5.1.1 Methodological considerations

Design

In this study a longitudinal repeated measures design was applied to study the change of arm motor function over time. This design implies that the patients serve as their own controls, but also allows the researcher to study the group as a whole ¹⁶³ and, for example, to report the mean or median change for all the patients over time. In a repeated measures design it is crucial to determine meaningful time points of assessment regarding the research question of the study. In this study, the first assessment took place 1-2 weeks after stroke. This was to exclude patients with spontaneous recovery of arm motor function during the first days after onset, as CIMT would not be appropriate for this group. The other two time points, 4 weeks and 3 months after onset, were based on earlier studies on recovery of arm motor function,

which demonstrated that most improvement occurs during the first month, and that a plateau is reached after 3 months. ^{12, 13, 15}

The 3 time points of assessment over 3 months post stroke delineate the main dimensions of recovery. However, it would have been desirable to have another assessment between 4 weeks and 3 months, for instance after 8 weeks, in order to acquire a better estimate of when the patients became eligible for CIMT. In this period the brain is still in a state of increased plasticity and rehabilitative treatments such as CIMT should be offered before the end of the 3-month period if considered appropriate. An additional assessment between 3 and 6 months would also have been interesting with regard to detecting more patients with late recovery. Although most improvement occurs early after stroke, some patients with initial poor motor function can still enhance motor function at a later stage. ²¹

All patients admitted during the study period were screened for persisting deficits of arm function 1-2 weeks after stroke. Defining 1-2 weeks after stroke as the time point for the first evaluation took into account practical obstacles caused by hospital routines. It would have been preferable to set a fixed day, since most improvement occurs early after stroke and there may be pronounced functional differences between day 8 and day 13 after stroke onset. Not setting a fixed day has probably influenced the mean score of the first assessment. Unfortunately, many patients would not have been available on a fixed day due to other examinations or treatments, and we might have lost a large number of the potential participants.

Outcome measures

The measures applied, ARAT and NHPT, are reliable and valid tools for evaluating arm motor function ^{151, 156}, and cover a broad spectrum of functional abilities from gross motor function to advanced dexterity. The ARAT has demonstrated high concurrent validity when compared to the Fugl-Meyer Test and Box and Blocks Test, thus supporting the internal validity of the construct measured. ¹⁵¹ Nevertheless, the ARAT comprises both a floor and a ceiling effect ¹⁵¹, making it difficult to differentiate between patients with very little arm motor function and, at the other end

of the spectrum, between patients who have already obtained relatively good motor function. Apart from the gross motor subtest most of the subtests require at least some manual dexterity. Many items involve the ability to lift the arm to place objects on a shelf, which can be restricted by orthopaedic problems not related to hemiplegia. The applicability of the ARAT can also be compromised when patients suffer from hemiplegic shoulder pain, a common complaint at some stage after stroke. ¹⁶⁴ In these cases a low score may not reflect real functional abilities, but an unwillingness to move the arm caused by pain. Accomplishing a top score on ARAT on the other hand, does not necessarily imply normal manual dexterity as patients can still experience limitations of fine motor skills.

The NHPT as a supplement to the ARAT allows for differentiation at a high level of arm motor function, with the additional advantage that normative data for different age groups have been published earlier. ¹⁵⁹ It has a pronounced floor effect, since the completion requires fine motor skills. The movements required are rather stereotype, inserting and removing pegs, but nevertheless demanding for many patients with stroke. One disadvantage of the measures applied is that both reflect activity as only one aspect of the ICF domains. This was, however, considered sufficient for paper I, and will be further elaborated in discussion of the results.

Internal validity

It is possible that the regular assessment of arm motor function made the patients more aware of their affected arm and that this influenced use and motivation. On the other hand, there were only three assessments and long intervals between each, preventing a notable stimulating effect. High test-retest reliability inter-rater reliability of the applied measures in clinically stable patients suggest that we observed real changes of arm motor function based on spontaneous recovery and rehabilitation. Better performance on the tests due to learning effects appears unlikely.

The most obvious methodological weakness of paper I is the limited follow-up of patients considered as cognitively too impaired to participate in CIMT at the first assessment after stroke. Many of the patients, especially elderly patients and those

living in nursing homes had been diagnosed with dementia before suffering a stroke and would not have been eligible. A number of the patients, however, may have suffered transient cognitive impairment and younger patients in particular often experience improvement of cognitive abilities. ¹⁶⁵ As we did not consider minor cognitive problems to be an obstacle for participating in CIMT, we applied a rather low cut-off on MMSE of 20/30, which allows some cognitive impairment. Due to limited resources a follow-up of patients with cognitive impairments or other medical conditions beyond their stay at the hospital was not possible, thus some patients could have become eligible at a later stage.

External validity

The number of patients was limited with only 46 patients, out of 100 considered, undergoing the motor assessments. Nevertheless, the sample studied encompasses an unselected pool of patients with impaired arm motor function after stroke and, taking into account the limitations mentioned above, the results should be transferable to patients with stroke in general.

5.1.2 Recovery of arm function

Recovery of arm function has been studied extensively earlier ^{12, 13, 15, 21}, but not with regard to the provision of specific treatment. CIMT has proven to be an effective treatment approach for patients in the chronic phase after stroke, but the time point at which to initiate CIMT early after stroke has not been elucidated. As a complementary study to the RCT in paper II, this study focused on eligibility for CIMT at specific points in time in the subacute phase post stroke.

Improvement of arm motor function

Not surprisingly, the results of this study corroborated earlier findings that most improvement of arm motor function occurs during the first 4 weeks after stroke and that some further improvement can be expected in the following weeks. ^{14, 15} By subdividing the patients into severity subgroups according their ARAT scores we gained further insight into the recovery process starting from different baseline scores.

Also here, as expected, baseline scores were an important predictor for recovery. Of the 17 patients who did not meet the minimal motor criteria early after stroke, almost two thirds (59 %) did not improve, continuing to suffer from paralysis after 3 months. Interestingly, three of the patients with initial severe paresis first obtained sufficient motor function to become eligible at some time between the second and third assessment. Similar observations were made in a study by Mirbagheri et al. (2008) based on 20 patients during a longer follow-up period. Some of the patients with initial pronounced paresis, but not paralysis, continued to improve up to 9 months post stroke. ²¹ This does not disprove the fact that improvement in most patients happens soon after stroke, but emphasizes the need for closer follow-up over a longer period of time. In particular, younger patients starting at a low level of motor function should be offered rehabilitation beyond the first weeks as functional gains can even be made in the chronic phase. ¹⁶⁶ Two of the three patients in our study who became eligible at a later stage were in employment when they suffered a stroke that resulted in comprehensive motor deficits. Arm motor function is an important factor for reentering the work-force after stroke, which in turn affects the quality of life. (Rachpukdee 2012)

Initial scores can provide some guidance for offering CIMT. We found that none of the patients who obtained the top score on ARAT at 3 months had a score of less than 34 at 4 weeks. The picture was more diverse 1-2 weeks after stroke. Most patients who later regained satisfactory arm function had a score above 20 on ARAT, indicating some dexterity. However, there were two patients who only scored 0 or 1 at this point in time, but nevertheless re-acquired a high level of dexterity at three months, indicating that an early prognosis based on voluntary finger movements may not be appropriate for all patients.

Because much improvement takes place in the first month after stroke it may be reasonable to wait until 4 weeks before initiating CIMT, conditional on the provision of comprehensive standard rehabilitation. In this study the patients usually received 5 -10 hours physical and occupational therapy a week, and other treatments, such as speech and language therapy according to their needs. This could be regarded as rather

comprehensive, although some patients might have benefited from even more intensive rehabilitation. In several studies based on animal experiments the need for early and intensive stimulation to re-acquire lost motor functions has been emphasized. ^{28, 167, 168} The patients had been admitted to dedicated stroke units with multi-disciplinary teams, and some had been included in an early supported discharge study and followed up by an ambulatory and a community team. Stroke unit care and early supported discharge has proven to be beneficial in terms of independence and quality of life ^{169, 170}, and may also have influenced recovery of arm motor function in our patients.

Criteria for CIMT

The criteria applied for eligibility were based on former CIMT studies, where usually at least some degree of extension of the wrist and fingers is a prerequisite to participate, see for example Taub et al. (2006), Wolf et al. (2006). ^{166, 171} This seems reasonable since basic flexion and extension is needed for simple grip and release movements. Patients without some voluntary finger movements would be helpless when wearing a restraint on the less affected arm. Furthermore, to avoid unnecessary or unsuitable training an upper limit had to be defined. MAL scores as a reflection of actual use of the affected arm were used as an upper limit in some studies, excluding patients with a substantial arm use defined as > 2.5 on MAL, which reflects rare to occasional use.^{171, 172} Patients assessed on an acute ward a short time after stroke onset usually do not have the opportunity to perform the activities mentioned in the MAL and cannot judge the amount and quality of use of the affected arm realistically. We therefore decided to set an ARAT score of 51 as an upper limit, which implies that motor function is still noticeably impaired but at the same time implies the ability to improve according to an earlier proposed clinically important difference of 5.7 points. ¹⁵⁰ A slightly higher ARAT score of < 53 is applied by van Delden et al. in an ongoing study. ¹⁷³

Cognitive impairment

A surprising observation in this study was the fact that a substantial number (33 %) would have been excluded from CIMT due to cognitive problems, at least at the time of the first assessment. Cognitive impairment in patients with stroke is frequent, even if transient for some patients. According to a recent study 10 % of all patients with first-ever stroke had already been diagnosed with dementia. ⁹ A further 10 % will develop dementia soon after stroke, and after recurrent strokes the probability rises to one third. Cognitive impairment will not only exclude them from CIMT, but also from many other treatment approaches, where compliance, motivation and stamina are a prerequisite. A future challenge is to develop neurorehabilitative treatment approaches, which are suitable for patients with cognitive impairment and which stimulate both motor and cognitive function.

Clinical implications

The results of this study suggest that CIMT should not be initiated earlier than 4 weeks after stroke, because many eligible patients, based on motor criteria, recover with standard rehabilitation. Some patients with poor motor function initially will at a later stage in recovery obtain sufficient arm motor function to participate in CIMT or other forms of intensive task-related training.

5.2 DISCUSSION PAPER II

5.2.1 Methodological considerations

Design

In this study a single-blinded randomized controlled design was applied, which is the preferred scientific design because it secures the random allocation to one of two or more groups. ¹⁶³ The assessments were performed by blinded raters, but the character of the intervention did not allow a blinding of either the patients or the therapists.

Internal validity

The intended sample size of 60 patients was not reached due to problems with patient recruitment. As was also shown in Paper 1, a small percentage of the stroke patients admitted to the hospital were found to be eligible for CIMT in the sub-acute phase and, furthermore, some of the eligible patients were not motivated for the intensive training due to cognitive or medical problems. Inclusion of too few patients comprises first and foremost the risk of overlooking a difference where there might in fact be one. ¹⁶² The interims per protocol analysis revealed no statistically significant difference in change between the groups, neither in ARAT, the primary outcome measure, nor in the secondary outcome measures (HPT, MAL AOU, MAL QUO), Neither was a difference found when conducting an intention to treat (ITT) analysis, that took the missing data into account. A premature termination of the study with regard to limited resources seemed justified, but not reaching the intended number of patients compromises the validity of the study. Difficulty in recruiting a sufficient number of patients is a well-known phenomenon in CIMT studies. ^{52, 57} A post hoc sample power analysis based on the observed post intervention scores and standard deviations revealed that 94 patients in each group would have been necessary to detect a difference on ARAT of 5.7 at an alpha level of 0.05 and a power of 80 % in favour of the mCIMT group. This number is not realistic to achieve within a reasonable time frame at one site, and the difference would in all probability not be large enough to be meaningful for the patients.

Sample

Most patients (30 of 39) who fulfilled the inclusion criteria gave their consent to participate. Reasons for not participating varied, and were sometimes related to personal physical or mental factors, such as awaiting surgery, or to social factors, such as taking care of a handicapped spouse. Three patients expressed a fear of not having enough stamina to comply with the protocol. The patients who were invited to participate received comprehensive information about the study and were given 24 hours to consider their participation. This may have contributed to the low dropout rate

of only two patients, who had to stop the training due to unexpected medical complications soon after inclusion.

Outcome measures

The outcome measures used in this study were limited to the activity domain of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). Applying a broader array of outcome measures including the assessment of impairment and participation would have provided a more holistic picture of the patients' recovery of arm function. However, the intervention was primarily expected to influence the ability to perform daily life activities and therefore measures at an activity level seemed most appropriate. Half of the patients were also included in another stroke study focusing on the effect of early supported discharge ¹⁷⁴, and this study also included several assessment tools. Hence, the focus on the activity domain was also based on the necessity to reduce the burden for the patients. Assessing improvement at a participation level seemed not relevant with regard to the intervention.

External validity

The results of this study cannot be transferred to patients with stroke in general, as only a very limited subgroup is regarded as eligible. However, with some caution, the results can be generalized to subacute stroke patients with mild to moderate arm paresis. Caution should be exercised due to the small sample size, which comprises the risk of bias. Assessing the results of this study in the light of other small scale studies, nevertheless provides the basis for some generalization, since several of the studies have reached similar conclusions. ^{52, 57, 59} Furthermore, the participants came from a rather unselected population encompassing most of the stroke patients living in this area.

5.2.2 Comparison of mCIMT and bimanual training *The results in the light of other studies*

CIMT is a promising treatment approach for a selected subgroup of patients with stroke. However, the superiority of CIMT has not been demonstrated for patients in the subacute phase post stroke. The aim of this study was to compare the effect of mCIMT to a similar task-related bimanual approach early after stroke. In our study no statistically significant difference was found between the group receiving mCIMT and the group receiving bimanual training. These results are in accordance with several studies concerning patients in the acute or subacute phase post stroke ^{57, 59, 175, 176}, but also in contradiction to some other studies ¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁷⁹. A recent meta-analysis by Nijland et al. (2011) including 5 RCTs suggests a more favourable outcome of low intensity CIMT, i.e. less than 3 hours training a day and wearing a restraint for less than 90 % of waking hours, compared to more hours of training and restraint, when patients are recruited within the first two weeks after stroke. ¹⁸⁰

When CIMT and mCIMT are compared to other treatment options, both intensity and content of the experimental and the control intervention have to be taken into account. To rule out intensity as a confounding factor, treatment should have equal dosage in both groups, as was the case in our study. When CIMT was compared to standard rehabilitation of less intensity, as in the "Excite trial" which is the largest study to date, a superior effect of CIMT was found for patients between 3 and 9 months post stroke. ¹⁷¹ Wang et al. studied a subacute sample (mean 11.3 weeks post) and found less improvement in one of the three groups receiving less intensive standard rehabilitation. ¹⁸¹. Some more training intensity may always be achieved when wearing a restraint on the less affected arm, which is why the restraint is an essential part of the CIMT concept.

When a dose-matched control intervention was conducted the results were equivocal. One of the most studied modifications of CIMT by Page et al. implied an extended intervention period of 10 weeks, but only three 0.5 hour sessions a week of training with a therapist also in the subacute phase post stroke. The studies by Page et al. ^{178, 182} demonstrated a favourable effect of the applied modification of CIMT when compared to a dose-matched control intervention. In these studies the control intervention mainly consisted of proprioceptive neuromuscular facilitation (PNF), which seems rather inadequate since PNF is an obsolete approach lacking evidence of effectiveness in stroke rehabilitation. ³¹ In one study where mCIMT was compared to equally dosed standard physical and occupational therapy most improvement was

found in the experimental mCIMT group ¹⁷⁷. In other studies where the content of the control intervention was similar to that of the CIMT intervention and also based on functional training, no difference was found between the groups ^{57, 176}

The intervention

The intervention chosen in our study was similar in both groups with respect to the functional, task-related content and the shaping procedures applied. For patients usually eligible for CIMT with mild to moderate arm paresis, task-related training seemed more appropriate and challenging than simple repetitive movements used in Bilateral arm training with rhythmic auditory cueing (BATRAC) or Bilateral arm training (BAT). ^{183, 184} Exploiting bimanual coupling when performing simultaneous movements may be helpful for patients with severe paresis, but advanced manual dexterity usually comprises complementary movements of both hands, e.g. one hand stabilizing an object and the other hand manipulating. On the other hand, treatment approaches for patients who were only lacking some speed and precision, such as Arm ability training ¹⁸⁵ seemed too difficult for many patients in our target group. We proposed exercises close to daily life activities, which provide the possibility to train coordination of both hands in an ecologically valid context.

The self-training programme focused on either unimanual or bimanual exercises for the respective group and, in addition, the therapists were asked to weight the training accordingly. However, there were many hours of the day that the patients did not dedicate to special exercises but were only asked to include the affected arm as much as possible in daily activities. This may have resulted in more similarity than intended between the two groups. However, the relatively satisfactory compliance with the targeted hours of wearing a mitt in the mCIMT group, suggests that at least greater unimanual use of the affected arm was achieved.

Learned non-use

CIMT seems to be more beneficial in the chronic phase than in the acute and subacute phase post stroke. This is not surprising as CIMT is a behavioural approach aiming to reduce or reverse learned non-use. One study applying kinematics found that CIMT decreased compensatory strategies and thereby improved function, but improvement at an impairment level could not be determined. ¹⁸⁶ Learned non-use may not be established to the same degree early after stroke, where reduction of impairment in a narrower sense can still be expected. However, it was surprising how fast learned non-use seemed to be established in individual patients, e.g. one patient shelled an egg with his unimpaired hand only, which looked rather difficult and arduous. Nevertheless, most patients in our study focused on using the affected hand when prompted to do so. Equivalent improvement of arm motor function was also found in a recent study with subacute and chronic patients, all receiving the same amount of massed practice.¹⁸⁷ The patients in one group had to wear a physical restraint, while the other group was only frequently reminded to use the affected arm. This indicates in accordance with our study that conscious attention to using the affected arm can provide sufficient impetus for many patients. A physical restraint may, however, be a helpful reminder for patients who are inclined to only use the unimpaired hand, sometimes due to minor cognitive impairments affecting motivation and body awareness.

The treatment concept

It has to be considered that all modifications of CIMT are a dilution of the original concept. Modifications of CIMT are a compromise with regard to what is desirable and what is achievable in terms of the patients' stamina and the resources available. The physical restraint is only one part of the whole treatment package, and as Taub et al. (1999) emphasized the repetitive practice of the affected arm is the most important factor. ⁴⁵ In our study patients in both groups were asked to spend several hours a day with a self-training programme to achieve sufficient intensity. Self-training was also implemented because we wanted to provide a treatment option which is implementable at different levels of the health care system. Only 4 hours of therapist guided functional arm training a week may seem sparse. On the other hand, many patients in the acute and subacute phase experience diverse impairments and have to attend other therapies, which limit their capacity for arm training. The training concept applied here

seemed viable for most patients in different settings, but a more comprehensive training programme offering more therapist contact might have increased motivation and effectiveness.

Clinical implications

There is research evidence for mechanisms that can stimulate neural plasticity, repetitive practice being one, but also intensity and salience of the experience are important. ¹⁴⁶ In CIMT, several of these aspects are integrated, behavioural and cognitive strategies are applied, such as shaping to maintain a challenging character of the training, and contracts to emphasize the active role of the patient. Such strategies can be introduced to different treatment approaches such as bimanual training in this study, under the prerequisite that patients are cognitively capable to comply. If frequent use of the affected arm can be achieved by cognitive means a physical restraint may not be necessary in the subacute phase post stroke.

5.3 DISCUSSION PAPER III

5.3.1 Methodological considerations

Design

A longitudinal repeated measures design was used to study changes over time in patients with stroke, allowing for within subject comparisons at two time points, the subjects acting as their own controls. Two examinations with fMRI and clinical assessments were performed at distinctive points in time after stroke, the first time point early after stroke, and the second time point after 3 months when spontaneous recovery is expected to plateau. ¹³⁰ Further examinations, including long term follow-up, might have provided more information about reorganization processes, but were not possible due to limited resources. A cross-sectional design was applied to study neural response in age- and sex-matched neurologically unimpaired control subjects.

Internal validity

Brain activation was also studied under two conditions: in healthy persons and in patients with stroke. The neurologically unimpaired persons were examined only once. A limitation with this procedure is that we did not take into account possible variations in the healthy controls, who might have responded somewhat differently if examined two or more times. However, rather consistent activation patterns have been reported across studies in healthy persons under various action observation conditions as reviewed by Molenberghs et al. (2012), suggesting that variations from time to time and from person to person do not conceal a common response in healthy persons. ¹⁰¹

Blood oxygen level dependent functional MRI (BOLD fMRI) is an indirect measure of neuronal activity and has to be interpreted with caution. The hemodynamic response can be compromised by generalized vascular disease in patients with stroke. ¹⁸⁸ Cerebral autoregulation, a mechanism which secures a constant blood flow to the brain, has also been found to be less effective early after stroke (< 4 days post stroke). ¹⁸⁹ Nevertheless, numerous studies provide a robust body of evidence regarding the reorganization of the motor system post stroke, for example as reviewed by Rehme et al. (2011). ¹³⁴ BOLD fMRI can in combination with clinical assessments provide a valuable means of assessing changes of neuronal plasticity.

The paradigm

The paradigm applied in our study was somewhat monotonous, especially for the healthy controls in the action observation condition. Two of the subjects reported that they had fallen asleep for some time while watching the video and their action observation data had to be excluded from the analysis. The monotony of the video clip was attributable to the necessity to compare data from the motor task with the action observation condition. This required a task simple enough that it could be carried out by patients with impaired arm motor function, and a corresponding video clip showing the same task. . However, inclusion of other video clips and embedding a control condition would have improved the paradigm.

External validity

To ensure that the experiment was conducted safely and smoothly quite strict inclusion criteria had to be applied to the patients included in the fMRI study. Besides usual fMRI exclusion criteria, such as metal implants and claustrophobia, the patients had to be able to communicate and follow instructions, and be able to stand and transfer indepently or with only a little help. These criteria excluded many of the patients admitted, leaving a highly selected group of patients which was on average less impaired and younger than the stroke population in general. Due to the protocol we also had to exclude patients with severely impaired arm motor function. However, we did include patients with an age span from 41 to 79 years and with both cortical and subcortical lesions in both hemispheres, thus the group covers a rather broad array of other factors. Considering the restrictions and the limited sample size, the results can only be generalized with caution to a similar patient group with mild to moderate paresis. Even the control group may have been special because health professionals and academics were overrepresented. This was not regarded as a problem as the tasks were not cognitively challenging.

5.3.2 Plasticity and response to action observation

Treatment approaches based on mirror neurons for patients with an arm paresis after stroke, such as action observation and mirror training have shown promising results. ^{107, 111, 116, 190} However, neuroimaging studies examining potential mirror neurons have mostly included healthy persons and we know little about neurons with mirror properties in patients with stroke. In paper III we explored the response to action observation at two different time points during the subacute phase after stroke and concomitantly assessed the clinical recovery of arm function. Neurologically healthy participants served as control subjects.

Activation patterns compared to other studies

The study revealed an involvement of several motor-related areas such as the inferior parietal lobe and premotor and supplementary motor areas bilaterally. In numerous studies with healthy participants these areas are also identified as being part of a mirror neuron system, as reviewed by Molenberghs et al. (2012) and Caspers et al. (2010). ^{101, 191} A recent study by Nedelko et al. (2011) examining the influence of age on mirror neurons found activation in the lateral prefrontal gyrus, ventral premotor cortex and inferior parietal lobe to be independent of the age of the group. Considering that most patients with stroke are elderly, these results also provide some support for observation as a treatment approach. In particular, the inferior parietal lobe, premotor and supplementary motor areas seem to play a crucial role as their frequent involvement has been reported in meta-analyses. ^{101, 191} The inferior parietal lobe is regarded as a higher order part of the motor system, of special importance for motor acts including tool use. ^{192, 193} Based on experiments with monkeys and humans, the inferior parietal lobe is proposed to play a crucial role in understanding and interpreting observed actions, including prediction of subsequent actions. ^{194, 195} The tool used in our action observation paradigm, the cylindrical device, may have contributed to the strong response of neurons in the inferior parietal lobe, even if it was a rather abstract tool and the observed action predictable.

The involvement of premotor and supplementary motor areas in our study both early and later after stroke and in healthy subjects also suggests an at least partially intact response to action observation. When activated areas during action observation were masked with those discharging during execution the same activation pattern evolved. The activation of premotor and supplementary motor areas under all conditions in patients and healthy subjects confirms the existence of an observation/ execution matching system.

The Broca area (BA 44,45) and its homologue on the right hemisphere were originally regarded as the human equivalent to mirror neuron area F 5 in macaques.¹⁹⁶

These areas were also activated in our study, but only in patients 3 months after stroke. Morin and Grèzes (2006) proposed that rather the adjacent premotor cortex (BA 6) shares the visual and motor properties that can be regarded as mirror neurons, which is in accordance with our study. However, peak activation in BA 44 and 45 was frequently reported in other studies as reviewed by Caspers et al. (2010), suggesting that the involvement may vary according to features of the task observed and the mindset of the observer.

Changes from first to second exam

The activation pattern changed during the process of recovery in terms of a larger spatial extent, but also with differences in areas involved. Considerably fewer clusters were activated within two weeks compared to 3 months post stroke. The second exam also revealed an activation of distinct clusters in the inferior frontal gyrus (BA 47) and the thalamus. Since the increased extent of activated areas co-occurred with an improvement in arm motor function it can be interpreted as a trend towards normalization. The inferior prefrontal gyrus is associated with complex cognitive functions and interconnected with most other parts of the brain, such as the thalamus. The pronounced thalamic activation three months after stroke may be explained by its function as a relay station and could be seen as a compensational mechanism. ¹⁹⁷

Action observation and motor imagery have been proposed as treatment approaches to facilitate motor recovery after stroke.^{107, 110} It is suggested that both observation and imagery share the same underlying neuronal mechanisms. An internal representation of the observed or imagined action is created to assess the feasibility of a planned action and to prime the motor system for subsequent action. ¹⁰⁶ Our data confirm the presence of an execution / observation overlap also in stroke patients, which may provide the basis for enhancing motor function by action observation, sometimes referred to as video-based training.

Interestingly, the spatial extent of activation increased from early after stroke to the second assessment after three months, suggesting that the responsiveness to action observation changes over time. It is difficult to say to what extent fewer activated areas early after stroke limit the receptiveness for action observation as a treatment approach. It may be sufficient to provide additional stimulation for the motor system that some motor areas respond when observing movement. Beneficial effects of action observation in improving arm motor function in patients with subacute stroke support this assumption.¹⁰⁷

All patients included in our study received rather comprehensive rehabilitation, which, together with spontaneous recovery, influenced the reorganization of the motor system and may also have contributed to the reorganization of potential mirror neurons. Changes in potential mirror neurons may merely reflect the improvement of arm motor function, or may constitute an interaction of mutual influence.

Clinical implications

Our results suggest that action observation may be a means of enhancing motor function in the subacute phase, even if, as demonstrated in our study, a stronger cortical response can be expected at a later stage. Cortical lesions of visual areas and key areas of the mirror neuron system may be a limiting factor for the application of action observation. The same applies to frequent stroke-related symptoms, such as attention deficits, cognitive impairments and fatigue. Nevertheless, the basic notion that similar areas are activated in healthy persons and patients with stroke may encourage clinicians to apply treatment approaches targeting mirror neurons to improve motor function after stroke.

5.4 ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR ALL STUDIES PAPERS I – III

After stroke, patients can be vulnerable physically and psychologically. We endeavoured to provide comprehensive information about the purpose of the respective study and emphasized that participation was voluntary. Because of the character of the three studies only patients who were able to give informed consent could participate in treatment and assessments.

In papers I and III the participating patients received treatment that was independent of the studies. This involved assessments of arm motor function at three different time points in Paper I. These assessments were of little burden to the patients, since few measures were applied and the patients were visited at their respective places of residence.

In paper III, the patients and healthy control participants were informed about the special conditions of an fMRI examination, such as the noise from the scanner and the necessity to lie still for about 40 minutes, which can be experienced as unpleasant. All patients included were familiar with MRI, since this is a standard examination when admitted to the stroke unit, and therefore had an idea as to what to expect from an fMRI. As MRI does not use X-rays, the participants were not exposed to potentially harmful side-effects. The examination was tolerated well by all participants and no adverse effects occurred.

In paper II, the patients in both groups received treatment of apparently equal quality with equivalent treatment time and therapist contact, so no group appeared to be disadvantaged. Additional training and exercises can be experienced as exhausting. It was therefore part of the intervention that the patients could distribute the self-training throughout the day according to their needs and general condition. Other necessary rehabilitation was not compromised by participation in the study.

All three studies were approved by the Regional Ethical Committee and the studies were conducted according to the Helsinki Declaration.

6. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

No difference in change was found between the group receiving mCIMT and the group receiving bimanual training without the use of a mitt to physically prevent the use of the unimpaired arm. The results suggest that a physical restraint may not be necessary when patients are able to focus on using the affected hand. Cognitive elements from the CIMT approach to increase motivation, compliance and adherence could be implemented in the bimanual training of the present study. Because wearing a mitt may be experienced as a nuisance, a cognitive approach might preferably be applied in patients who are able to control their arm use.

Future research should examine different forms of bimanual training and define the patients who could possibly benefit. It would be interesting to explore in which cases innate bimanual coordination patterns can be used to improve arm motor function.

Potential mirror neurons were shown to be active both early after stroke and after 3 months, although they underwent changes during the course of recovery. The results suggest that mirror neurons are a possible avenue to the motor system early after stroke. The concept of mirror neurons as a means of improving motor function is relatively new. Several treatment approaches targeting mirror neurons, such as action observation, mental practice and mirror therapy have to be studied further. Also virtual reality systems which comprise mirror modalities warrant further research. Such training may be more applicable for patients with cognitive impairment than intensive CIMT and bimanual training, and may represent a supplementary method of training.
REFERENCES

- Zhang Y, Chapman AM, Plested M, Jackson D, Purroy F. The Incidence, Prevalence, and Mortality of Stroke in France, Germany, Italy, Spain, the UK, and the US: A Literature Review. *Stroke Res Treat* 2012;2012:436125.
- (2) Mukherjee D, Patil CG. Epidemiology and the global burden of stroke. *World Neurosurg* 2011;76(6 Suppl):S85-S90.
- (3) Truelsen T, Piechowski-Jozwiak B, Bonita R, Mathers C, Bogousslavsky J, Boysen G. Stroke incidence and prevalence in Europe: a review of available data. *Eur J Neurol* 2006;13(6):581-598.
- (4) Organised inpatient (stroke unit) care for stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2007;(4):CD000197.
- (5) Hajjar K, Kerr DM, Lees KR. Thrombolysis for acute ischemic stroke. J Vasc Surg 2011;54(3):901-907.
- (6) Buxbaum LJ, Haaland KY, Hallett M et al. Treatment of limb apraxia: moving forward to improved action. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 2008;87(2):149-161.
- (7) Daniel K, Wolfe CD, Busch MA, McKevitt C. What are the social consequences of stroke for working-aged adults? A systematic review. *Stroke* 2009;40(6):e431-e440.
- (8) Franceschini M, La Porta F, Agosti M, Massucci M. Is health-related-quality of life of stroke patients influenced by neurological impairments at one year after stroke? *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med* 2010;46(3):389-399.
- (9) Pendlebury ST, Rothwell PM. Prevalence, incidence, and factors associated with pre-stroke and post-stroke dementia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet Neurol* 2009;8(11):1006-1018.

- (10) Levin MF, Kleim JA, Wolf SL. What do motor "recovery" and "compensation" mean in patients following stroke? *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2009;23(4):313-319.
- (11) Murphy TH, Corbett D. Plasticity during stroke recovery: from synapse to behaviour. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2009;10(12):861-872.
- (12) Nakayama H, Jorgensen HS, Raaschou HO, Olsen TS. Recovery of upper extremity function in stroke patients: the Copenhagen Stroke Study. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1994;75(4):394-398.
- (13) Kwakkel G, Kollen BJ, van der GJ, Prevo AJ. Probability of regaining dexterity in the flaccid upper limb: impact of severity of paresis and time since onset in acute stroke. *Stroke* 2003;34(9):2181-2186.
- (14) Kwakkel G, Kollen B. Predicting improvement in the upper paretic limb after stroke: a longitudinal prospective study. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* 2007;25(5-6):453-460.
- (15) Verheyden G, Nieuwboer A, De WL et al. Time course of trunk, arm, leg, and functional recovery after ischemic stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2008;22(2):173-179.
- (16) Heller A, Wade DT, Wood VA, Sunderland A, Hewer RL, Ward E. Arm function after stroke: measurement and recovery over the first three months. J *Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1987;50(6):714-719.
- (17) Hendricks HT, van LJ, Geurts AC, Zwarts MJ. Motor recovery after stroke: a systematic review of the literature. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2002;83(11):1629-1637.
- (18) Wade DT, Langton-Hewer R, Wood VA, Skilbeck CE, Ismail HM. The hemiplegic arm after stroke: measurement and recovery. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 1983;46(6):521-524.

- (19) Nijland RH, van Wegen EE, Harmeling-van der Wel BC, Kwakkel G. Presence of finger extension and shoulder abduction within 72 hours after stroke predicts functional recovery: early prediction of functional outcome after stroke: the EPOS cohort study. *Stroke* 2010;41(4):745-750.
- (20) Au-Yeung SS, Hui-Chan CW. Predicting recovery of dextrous hand function in acute stroke. *Disabil Rehabil* 2009;31(5):394-401.
- (21) Mirbagheri MM, Rymer WZ. Time-course of changes in arm impairment after stroke: variables predicting motor recovery over 12 months. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2008;89(8):1507-1513.
- (22) Hendricks HT, Hageman G, van LJ. Prediction of recovery from upper extremity paralysis after stroke by measuring evoked potentials. *Scand J Rehabil Med* 1997;29(3):155-159.
- (23) Pizzi A, Carrai R, Falsini C, Martini M, Verdesca S, Grippo A. Prognostic value of motor evoked potentials in motor function recovery of upper limb after stroke. *J Rehabil Med* 2009;41(8):654-660.
- (24) van Kuijk AA, Pasman JW, Hendricks HT, Zwarts MJ, Geurts AC. Predicting hand motor recovery in severe stroke: the role of motor evoked potentials in relation to early clinical assessment. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2009;23(1):45-51.
- (25) Chen SY, Winstein CJ. A systematic review of voluntary arm recovery in hemiparetic stroke: critical predictors for meaningful outcomes using the international classification of functioning, disability, and health. *J Neurol Phys Ther* 2009;33(1):2-13.
- (26) Stinear C. Prediction of recovery of motor function after stroke. *Lancet Neurol* 2010;9(12):1228-1232.
- (27) Langhorne P, Coupar F, Pollock A. Motor recovery after stroke: a systematic review. *Lancet Neurol* 2009;8(8):741-754.

- (28) Biernaskie J, Corbett D. Enriched rehabilitative training promotes improved forelimb motor function and enhanced dendritic growth after focal ischemic injury. *J Neurosci* 2001;21(14):5272-5280.
- (29) Dobkin BH. Training and exercise to drive poststroke recovery. Nat Clin Pract Neurol 2008;4(2):76-85.
- (30) Horn SD, DeJong G, Smout RJ, Gassaway J, James R, Conroy B. Stroke rehabilitation patients, practice, and outcomes: is earlier and more aggressive therapy better? *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2005;86(12 Suppl 2):S101-S114.
- (31) van Peppen RP, Kwakkel G, Wood-Dauphinee S, Hendriks HJ, Van der Wees PJ, Dekker J. The impact of physical therapy on functional outcomes after stroke: what's the evidence? *Clin Rehabil* 2004;18(8):833-862.
- (32) Turton A, Pomeroy V. When should upper limb function be trained after stroke? Evidence for and against early intervention. *NeuroRehabilitation* 2002;17(3):215-224.
- (33) Falconer M, Walsh S, Harbison JA. Estimated prevalence of fatigue following stroke and transient ischemic attack is dependent on terminology used and patient gender. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis* 2010;19(6):431-434.
- (34) Lin KC, Huang YH, Hsieh YW, Wu CY. Potential predictors of motor and functional outcomes after distributed constraint-induced therapy for patients with stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2009;23(4):336-342.
- (35) Fritz SL, Light KE, Clifford SN, Patterson TS, Behrman AL, Davis SB. Descriptive characteristics as potential predictors of outcomes following constraint-induced movement therapy for people after stroke. *Phys Ther* 2006;86(6):825-832.
- (36) Fritz SL, Light KE, Patterson TS, Behrman AL, Davis SB. Active finger extension predicts outcomes after constraint-induced movement therapy for individuals with hemiparesis after stroke. *Stroke* 2005;36(6):1172-1177.

- (37) Huang WC, Chen YJ, Chien CL, Kashima H, Lin KC. Constraint-induced movement therapy as a paradigm of translational research in neurorehabilitation: Reviews and prospects. *Am J Transl Res* 2010;3(1):48-60.
- (38) Taub E, Uswatte G. Constraint-induced movement therapy: bridging from the primate laboratory to the stroke rehabilitation laboratory. *J Rehabil Med* 2003;(41 Suppl):34-40.
- (39) Taub E, Crago JE, Burgio LD et al. An operant approach to rehabilitation medicine: overcoming learned nonuse by shaping. *J Exp Anal Behav* 1994;61(2):281-293.
- (40) Ostendorf CG, Wolf SL. Effect of forced use of the upper extremity of a hemiplegic patient on changes in function. A single-case design. *Phys Ther* 1981;61(7):1022-1028.
- (41) Wolf SL, Lecraw DE, Barton LA, Jann BB. Forced use of hemiplegic upper extremities to reverse the effect of learned nonuse among chronic stroke and head-injured patients. *Exp Neurol* 1989;104(2):125-132.
- (42) Taub E, Miller NE, Novack TA et al. Technique to improve chronic motor deficit after stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 1993;74(4):347-354.
- (43) Miltner WH, Bauder H, Sommer M, Dettmers C, Taub E. Effects of constraintinduced movement therapy on patients with chronic motor deficits after stroke: a replication. *Stroke* 1999;30(3):586-592.
- (44) Morris DM, Taub E, Mark VW. Constraint-induced movement therapy: characterizing the intervention protocol. *Eura Medicophys* 2006;42(3):257-268.
- (45) Taub E, Uswatte G, Pidikiti R. Constraint-Induced Movement Therapy: a new family of techniques with broad application to physical rehabilitation--a clinical review. *J Rehabil Res Dev* 1999;36(3):237-251.

- (46) Skinner BF, Harnad S, Catania AC. *The Selection of behavior the operant behaviorism of B.F. Skinner : comments and consequences*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; 1988.
- (47) Dahl AE, Askim T, Stock R, Langorgen E, Lydersen S, Indredavik B. Shortand long-term outcome of constraint-induced movement therapy after stroke: a randomized controlled feasibility trial. *Clin Rehabil* 2008;22(5):436-447.
- (48) Wolf SL, Thompson PA, Winstein CJ et al. The EXCITE stroke trial: comparing early and delayed constraint-induced movement therapy. *Stroke* 2010;41(10):2309-2315.
- (49) Corbetta D, Sirtori V, Moja L, Gatti R. Constraint-induced movement therapy in stroke patients: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med* 2010;46(4):537-544.
- (50) Page SJ, Levine P, Leonard AC. Modified constraint-induced therapy in acute stroke: a randomized controlled pilot study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2005;19(1):27-32.
- (51) Dettmers C, Teske U, Hamzei F, Uswatte G, Taub E, Weiller C. Distributed form of constraint-induced movement therapy improves functional outcome and quality of life after stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2005;86(2):204-209.
- (52) Brogardh C, Vestling M, Sjolund BH. Shortened constraint-induced movement therapy in subacute stroke - no effect of using a restraint: a randomized controlled study with independent observers. *J Rehabil Med* 2009;41(4):231-236.
- (53) Page SJ, Sisto SA, Levine P. Modified constraint-induced therapy in chronic stroke. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 2002;81(11):870-875.

- (54) Page SJ, Murray C, Hermann V. Affected upper-extremity movement ability is retained 3 months after modified constraint-induced therapy. *Am J Occup Ther* 2011;65(5):589-593.
- (55) Lin KC, Wu CY, Liu JS. A randomized controlled trial of constraint-induced movement therapy after stroke. *Acta Neurochir Suppl* 2008;101:61-64.
- (56) Myint JM, Yuen GF, Yu TK et al. A study of constraint-induced movement therapy in subacute stroke patients in Hong Kong. *Clin Rehabil* 2008;22(2):112-124.
- (57) Hammer A, Lindmark B. Is forced use of the paretic upper limb beneficial? A randomized pilot study during subacute post-stroke recovery. *Clin Rehabil* 2009;23(5):424-433.
- (58) Boake C, Noser EA, Ro T et al. Constraint-induced movement therapy during early stroke rehabilitation. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2007;21(1):14-24.
- (59) Dromerick AW, Lang CE, Birkenmeier RL et al. Very Early Constraint-Induced Movement during Stroke Rehabilitation (VECTORS): A single-center RCT. *Neurology* 2009;73(3):195-201.
- (60) Taub E, Lum PS, Hardin P, Mark VW, Uswatte G. AutoCITE: automated delivery of CI therapy with reduced effort by therapists. *Stroke* 2005;36(6):1301-1304.
- (61) Levy CE, Giuffrida C, Richards L, Wu S, Davis S, Nadeau SE. Botulinum toxin a, evidence-based exercise therapy, and constraint-induced movement therapy for upper-limb hemiparesis attributable to stroke: a preliminary study. *Am J Phys Med Rehabil* 2007;86(9):696-706.
- (62) Page SJ, Levine P, Khoury JC. Modified constraint-induced therapy combined with mental practice: thinking through better motor outcomes. *Stroke* 2009;40(2):551-554.

- (63) Sun SF, Hsu CW, Sun HP, Hwang CW, Yang CL, Wang JL. Combined botulinum toxin type A with modified constraint-induced movement therapy for chronic stroke patients with upper extremity spasticity: a randomized controlled study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2010;24(1):34-41.
- (64) Meinzer M, Djundja D, Barthel G, Elbert T, Rockstroh B. Long-term stability of improved language functions in chronic aphasia after constraint-induced aphasia therapy. *Stroke* 2005;36(7):1462-1466.
- (65) Hoare BJ, Wasiak J, Imms C, Carey L. Constraint-induced movement therapy in the treatment of the upper limb in children with hemiplegic cerebral palsy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2007;(2):CD004149.
- (66) Stock R, Mork PJ. The effect of an intensive exercise programme on leg function in chronic stroke patients: a pilot study with one-year follow-up. *Clin Rehabil* 2009;23(9):790-799.
- (67) McCombe WS, Liu W, Whitall J. Temporal and spatial control following bilateral versus unilateral training. *Hum Mov Sci* 2008;27(5):749-758.
- (68) Kelso JA, Southard DL, Goodman D. On the coordination of two-handed movements. J Exp Psychol Hum Percept Perform 1979;5(2):229-238.
- (69) Shea CH, Boyle J, Kovacs AJ. Bimanual Fitts' tasks: Kelso, Southard, and Goodman, 1979 revisited. *Exp Brain Res* 2012;216(1):113-121.
- (70) Cardoso de OS. The neuronal basis of bimanual coordination: recent neurophysiological evidence and functional models. *Acta Psychol (Amst)* 2002;110(2-3):139-159.
- (71) Banerjee A, Jirsa VK. How do neural connectivity and time delays influence bimanual coordination? *Biol Cybern* 2007;96(2):265-278.
- (72) Rose DK, Winstein CJ. The co-ordination of bimanual rapid aiming movements following stroke. *Clin Rehabil* 2005;19(4):452-462.

- (73) Dickstein R, Hocherman S, Amdor G, Pillar T. Reaction and movement times in patients with hemiparesis for unilateral and bilateral elbow flexion. *Phys Ther* 1993;73(6):374-380.
- (74) Cunningham CL, Stoykov ME, Walter CB. Bilateral facilitation of motor control in chronic hemiplegia. *Acta Psychol (Amst)* 2002;110(2-3):321-337.
- (75) Sleimen-Malkoun R, Temprado JJ, Berton E. A dynamic systems approach to bimanual coordination in stroke: implications for rehabilitation and research. *Medicina (Kaunas)* 2010;46(6):374-381.
- (76) Stinear JW, Byblow WD. Rhythmic bilateral movement training modulates corticomotor excitability and enhances upper limb motricity poststroke: a pilot study. *J Clin Neurophysiol* 2004;21(2):124-131.
- (77) Whitall J, McCombe WS, Silver KH, Macko RF. Repetitive bilateral arm training with rhythmic auditory cueing improves motor function in chronic hemiparetic stroke. *Stroke* 2000;31(10):2390-2395.
- (78) Whitall J, Waller SM, Sorkin JD et al. Bilateral and Unilateral Arm Training Improve Motor Function Through Differing Neuroplastic Mechanisms: A Single-Blinded Randomized Controlled Trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2010.
- (79) McCombe WS, Whitall J. Bilateral arm training: why and who benefits? *NeuroRehabilitation* 2008;23(1):29-41.
- (80) Swinnen SP, Carson RG. The control and learning of patterns of interlimb coordination: past and present issues in normal and disordered control. *Acta Psychol (Amst)* 2002;110(2-3):129-137.
- (81) Luft AR, Combe-Waller S, Whitall J et al. Repetitive bilateral arm training and motor cortex activation in chronic stroke: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA* 2004;292(15):1853-1861.

- (82) Richards LG, Senesac CR, Davis SB, Woodbury ML, Nadeau SE. Bilateral arm training with rhythmic auditory cueing in chronic stroke: not always efficacious. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2008;22(2):180-184.
- (83) Stinear CM, Barber PA, Coxon JP, Fleming MK, Byblow WD. Priming the motor system enhances the effects of upper limb therapy in chronic stroke. *Brain* 2008;131(Pt 5):1381-1390.
- (84) Mehrholz J, Platz T, Kugler J, Pohl M. Electromechanical and robot-assisted arm training for improving arm function and activities of daily living after stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2008;(4):CD006876.
- (85) Morris JH, van WF, Joice S, Ogston SA, Cole I, MacWalter RS. A comparison of bilateral and unilateral upper-limb task training in early poststroke rehabilitation: a randomized controlled trial. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2008;89(7):1237-1245.
- (86) Platz T, Eickhof C, van Kaick S et al. Impairment-oriented training or Bobath therapy for severe arm paresis after stroke: a single-blind, multicentre randomized controlled trial. *Clin Rehabil* 2005;19(7):714-724.
- (87) Platz T, van Kaick S, Mehrholz J, Leidner O, Eickhof C, Pohl M. Best conventional therapy versus modular impairment-oriented training for arm paresis after stroke: a single-blind, multicenter randomized controlled trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2009;23(7):706-716.
- (88) Coupar F, Pollock A, van Wijck F, Morris J, Langhorne P. Simultaneous bilateral training for improving arm function after stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2010;(4):CD006432.
- (89) Cauraugh JH, Lodha N, Naik SK, Summers JJ. Bilateral movement training and stroke motor recovery progress: a structured review and meta-analysis. *Hum Mov Sci* 2010;29(5):853-870.

- (90) Stewart KC, Cauraugh JH, Summers JJ. Bilateral movement training and stroke rehabilitation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Neurol Sci* 2006;244(1-2):89-95.
- (91) Latimer CP, Keeling J, Lin B, Henderson M, Hale LA. The impact of bilateral therapy on upper limb function after chronic stroke: a systematic review. *Disabil Rehabil* 2010;32(15):1221-1231.
- (92) van Delden AE, Peper CE, Beek PJ, Kwakkel G. Unilateral versus bilateral upper limb exercise therapy after stroke: A systematic review. *J Rehabil Med* 2012.
- (93) Cattaneo L, Rizzolatti G. The mirror neuron system. *Arch Neurol* 2009;66(5):557-560.
- (94) Gallese V, Fadiga L, Fogassi L, Rizzolatti G. Action recognition in the premotor cortex. *Brain* 1996;119 (Pt 2):593-609.
- (95) Rizzolatti G, Craighero L. The mirror-neuron system. Annu Rev Neurosci 2004;27:169-192.
- (96) Rizzolatti G. The mirror neuron system and its function in humans. *Anat Embryol (Berl)* 2005;210(5-6):419-421.
- (97) Rizzolatti G, Sinigaglia C. Mirror neurons and motor intentionality. *Funct Neurol* 2007;22(4):205-210.
- (98) Rizzolatti G, Sinigaglia C. *Mirrors in the brain how our minds share actions and emotions*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 2008.
- (99) Buccino G, Binkofski F, Fink GR et al. Action observation activates premotor and parietal areas in a somatotopic manner: an fMRI study. *Eur J Neurosci* 2001;13(2):400-404.

- (100) Buccino G, Vogt S, Ritzl A et al. Neural circuits underlying imitation learning of hand actions: an event-related fMRI study. *Neuron* 2004;42(2):323-334.
- (101) Molenberghs P, Cunnington R, Mattingley JB. Brain regions with mirror properties: a meta-analysis of 125 human fMRI studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 2012;36(1):341-349.
- (102) Cattaneo L, Fabbri-Destro M, Boria S et al. Impairment of actions chains in autism and its possible role in intention understanding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 2007;104(45):17825-17830.
- (103) Calvo-Merino B, Glaser DE, Grezes J, Passingham RE, Haggard P. Action observation and acquired motor skills: an FMRI study with expert dancers. *Cereb Cortex* 2005;15(8):1243-1249.
- (104) Buccino G, Binkofski F, Riggio L. The mirror neuron system and action recognition. *Brain Lang* 2004;89(2):370-376.
- (105) Vogt S, Buccino G, Wohlschlager AM et al. Prefrontal involvement in imitation learning of hand actions: effects of practice and expertise. *Neuroimage* 2007;37(4):1371-1383.
- (106) Jeannerod M. Neural simulation of action: a unifying mechanism for motor cognition. *Neuroimage* 2001;14(1 Pt 2):S103-S109.
- (107) Franceschini M, Ceravolo MG, Agosti M et al. Clinical Relevance of Action Observation in Upper-Limb Stroke Rehabilitation: A Possible Role in Recovery of Functional Dexterity. A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2012.
- (108) Mulder T. Motor imagery and action observation: cognitive tools for rehabilitation. *J Neural Transm* 2007;114(10):1265-1278.
- (109) Pomeroy VM, Clark CA, Miller JS, Baron JC, Markus HS, Tallis RC. The potential for utilizing the "mirror neurone system" to enhance recovery of the

severely affected upper limb early after stroke: a review and hypothesis. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2005;19(1):4-13.

- (110) Ietswaart M, Johnston M, Dijkerman HC et al. Mental practice with motor imagery in stroke recovery: randomized controlled trial of efficacy. *Brain* 2011;134(Pt 5):1373-1386.
- (111) Ertelt D, Small S, Solodkin A et al. Action observation has a positive impact on rehabilitation of motor deficits after stroke. *Neuroimage* 2007;36 Suppl 2:T164-T173.
- (112) Barclay-Goddard RE, Stevenson TJ, Poluha W, Thalman L. Mental practice for treating upper extremity deficits in individuals with hemiparesis after stroke. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011;(5):CD005950.
- (113) Lotze M, Halsband U. Motor imagery. J Physiol Paris 2006;99(4-6):386-395.
- (114) Sharma N, Pomeroy VM, Baron JC. Motor imagery: a backdoor to the motor system after stroke? *Stroke* 2006;37(7):1941-1952.
- (115) Celnik P, Webster B, Glasser DM, Cohen LG. Effects of action observation on physical training after stroke. *Stroke* 2008;39(6):1814-1820.
- (116) Franceschini M, Agosti M, Cantagallo A, Sale P, Mancuso M, Buccino G.
 Mirror neurons: action observation treatment as a tool in stroke rehabilitation.
 Eur J Phys Rehabil Med 2010.
- (117) Laver K, George S, Ratcliffe J, Crotty M. Virtual reality stroke rehabilitation-hype or hope? *Aust Occup Ther J* 2011;58(3):215-219.
- (118) da Silva CM, Bermudez IB, Duarte E, Verschure PF. Virtual reality based rehabilitation speeds up functional recovery of the upper extremities after stroke: a randomized controlled pilot study in the acute phase of stroke using the Rehabilitation Gaming System. *Restor Neurol Neurosci* 2011;29(5):287-298.

- (119) Eng K, Siekierka E, Pyk P et al. Interactive visuo-motor therapy system for stroke rehabilitation. *Med Biol Eng Comput* 2007;45(9):901-907.
- (120) Rand D, Katz N, Weiss PL. Intervention using the VMall for improving motor and functional ability of the upper extremity in post stroke participants. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med* 2009;45(1):113-121.
- (121) Henderson A, Korner-Bitensky N, Levin M. Virtual reality in stroke rehabilitation: a systematic review of its effectiveness for upper limb motor recovery. *Top Stroke Rehabil* 2007;14(2):52-61.
- (122) Laver KE, George S, Thomas S, Deutsch JE, Crotty M. Virtual reality for stroke rehabilitation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2011;9:CD008349.
- (123) Balasubramanian S, Klein J, Burdet E. Robot-assisted rehabilitation of hand function. *Curr Opin Neurol* 2010;23(6):661-670.
- (124) Kwakkel G, Kollen BJ, Krebs HI. Effects of robot-assisted therapy on upper limb recovery after stroke: a systematic review. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2008;22(2):111-121.
- (125) Timmermans AA, Seelen HA, Willmann RD, Kingma H. Technology-assisted training of arm-hand skills in stroke: concepts on reacquisition of motor control and therapist guidelines for rehabilitation technology design. *J Neuroeng Rehabil* 2009;6:1.
- (126) Johansen-Berg H. Functional imaging of stroke recovery: what have we learnt and where do we go from here? *Int J Stroke* 2007;2(1):7-16.
- (127) Ward NS. Future perspectives in functional neuroimaging in stroke recovery. *Eura Medicophys* 2007;43(2):285-294.
- (128) Ystad MA. Quantitative Structural and Functional Brain Imaging in Cognitive Aging. Disseration. University of Bergen, 2010.

- (129) Eliassen JC, Boespflug EL, Lamy M, Allendorfer J, Chu WJ, Szaflarski JP.
 Brain-mapping techniques for evaluating poststroke recovery and rehabilitation: a review. *Top Stroke Rehabil* 2008;15(5):427-450.
- (130) Chen H, Epstein J, Stern E. Neural plasticity after acquired brain injury: evidence from functional neuroimaging. *PM R* 2010;2(12 Suppl 2):S306-S312.
- (131) Richards LG, Stewart KC, Woodbury ML, Senesac C, Cauraugh JH. Movement-dependent stroke recovery: a systematic review and meta-analysis of TMS and fMRI evidence. *Neuropsychologia* 2008;46(1):3-11.
- (132) Hamzei F, Dettmers C, Rijntjes M, Weiller C. The effect of cortico-spinal tract damage on primary sensorimotor cortex activation after rehabilitation therapy. *Exp Brain Res* 2008;190(3):329-336.
- (133) Rehme AK, Fink GR, von Cramon DY, Grefkes C. The role of the contralesional motor cortex for motor recovery in the early days after stroke assessed with longitudinal FMRI. *Cereb Cortex* 2011;21(4):756-768.
- (134) Rehme AK, Eickhoff SB, Rottschy C, Fink GR, Grefkes C. Activation likelihood estimation meta-analysis of motor-related neural activity after stroke. *Neuroimage* 2011.
- (135) Ward NS, Brown MM, Thompson AJ, Frackowiak RS. Neural correlates of motor recovery after stroke: a longitudinal fMRI study. *Brain* 2003;126(Pt 11):2476-2496.
- (136) Ward NS, Brown MM, Thompson AJ, Frackowiak RS. Neural correlates of outcome after stroke: a cross-sectional fMRI study. *Brain* 2003;126(Pt 6):1430-1448.
- (137) Askim T, Indredavik B, Vangberg T, Haberg A. Motor network changes associated with successful motor skill relearning after acute ischemic stroke: a

longitudinal functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2009;23(3):295-304.

- (138) Boyd LA, Vidoni ED, Wessel BD. Motor learning after stroke: is skill acquisition a prerequisite for contralesional neuroplastic change? *Neurosci Lett* 2010;482(1):21-25.
- (139) Fox MD, Greicius M. Clinical applications of resting state functional connectivity. *Front Syst Neurosci* 2010;4:19.
- (140) Carter AR, Astafiev SV, Lang CE et al. Resting interhemispheric functional magnetic resonance imaging connectivity predicts performance after stroke. *Ann Neurol* 2010;67(3):365-375.
- (141) Carter AR, Patel KR, Astafiev SV et al. Upstream dysfunction of somatomotor functional connectivity after corticospinal damage in stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2012;26(1):7-19.
- (142) Wang L, Yu C, Chen H et al. Dynamic functional reorganization of the motor execution network after stroke. *Brain* 2010;133(Pt 4):1224-1238.
- (143) Inman CS, James GA, Hamann S, Rajendra JK, Pagnoni G, Butler AJ. Altered resting-state effective connectivity of fronto-parietal motor control systems on the primary motor network following stroke. *Neuroimage* 2012;59(1):227-237.
- (144) Caspers S, Zilles K, Laird AR, Eickhoff SB. ALE meta-analysis of action observation and imitation in the human brain. *Neuroimage* 2010;50(3):1148-1167.
- (145) Boyd LA, Vidoni ED, Daly JJ. Answering the call: the influence of neuroimaging and electrophysiological evidence on rehabilitation. *Phys Ther* 2007;87(6):684-703.

- (146) Kleim JA, Jones TA. Principles of experience-dependent neural plasticity: implications for rehabilitation after brain damage. J Speech Lang Hear Res 2008;51(1):S225-S239.
- (147) Winstein CJ, Miller JP, Blanton S et al. Methods for a multisite randomized trial to investigate the effect of constraint-induced movement therapy in improving upper extremity function among adults recovering from a cerebrovascular stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2003;17(3):137-152.
- (148) Platz T, Pinkowski C, van Wijck F, Kim IH, di Bella P, Johnson G. Reliability and validity of arm function assessment with standardized guidelines for the Fugl-Meyer Test, Action Research Arm Test and Box and Block Test: a multicentre study. *Clin Rehabil* 2005;19(4):404-411.
- (149) Lyle RC. A performance test for assessment of upper limb function in physical rehabilitation treatment and research. *Int J Rehabil Res* 1981;4(4):483-492.
- (150) van der Lee JH, De G, V, Beckerman H, Wagenaar RC, Lankhorst GJ, Bouter LM. The intra- and interrater reliability of the action research arm test: a practical test of upper extremity function in patients with stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2001;82(1):14-19.
- (151) Platz T, Pinkowski C, van WF, Kim IH, di BP, Johnson G. Reliability and validity of arm function assessment with standardized guidelines for the Fugl-Meyer Test, Action Research Arm Test and Box and Block Test: a multicentre study. *Clin Rehabil* 2005;19(4):404-411.
- (152) Hsieh CL, Hsueh IP, Chiang FM, Lin PH. Inter-rater reliability and validity of the action research arm test in stroke patients. *Age Ageing* 1998;27(2):107-113.
- (153) van der Lee JH, Beckerman H, Lankhorst GJ, Bouter LM. The responsiveness of the Action Research Arm test and the Fugl-Meyer Assessment scale in chronic stroke patients. *J Rehabil Med* 2001;33(3):110-113.

- (154) Lang CE, Edwards DF, Birkenmeier RL, Dromerick AW. Estimating minimal clinically important differences of upper-extremity measures early after stroke. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2008;89(9):1693-1700.
- (155) Lin JH, Hsu MJ, Sheu CF et al. Psychometric comparisons of 4 measures for assessing upper-extremity function in people with stroke. *Phys Ther* 2009;89(8):840-850.
- (156) Croarkin E, Danoff J, Barnes C. Evidence-based rating of upper-extremity motor function tests used for people following a stroke. *Phys Ther* 2004;84(1):62-74.
- (157) Chen HM, Chen CC, Hsueh IP, Huang SL, Hsieh CL. Test-retest reproducibility and smallest real difference of 5 hand function tests in patients with stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2009;23(5):435-440.
- (158) Beebe JA, Lang CE. Relationships and responsiveness of six upper extremity function tests during the first six months of recovery after stroke. J Neurol Phys Ther 2009;33(2):96-103.
- (159) Oxford GK, Vogel KA, Le V, Mitchell A, Muniz S, Vollmer MA. Adult norms for a commercially available Nine Hole Peg Test for finger dexterity. *Am J Occup Ther* 2003;57(5):570-573.
- (160) van der Lee JH, Beckerman H, Knol DL, de Vet HC, Bouter LM. Clinimetric properties of the motor activity log for the assessment of arm use in hemiparetic patients. *Stroke* 2004;35(6):1410-1414.
- (161) Uswatte G, Taub E, Morris D, Light K, Thompson PA. The Motor Activity Log-28: assessing daily use of the hemiparetic arm after stroke. *Neurology* 2006;67(7):1189-1194.
- (162) Biostatistics: the bare essentials. Hamilton, Ont: B.C. Decker; 2008.

- (163) Domholdt E. Rehabilitation research principles and applications. 3rd ed ed. St. Louis, Miss: Elsevier Saunders; 2005.
- (164) Dromerick AW, Edwards DF, Kumar A. Hemiplegic shoulder pain syndrome: frequency and characteristics during inpatient stroke rehabilitation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2008;89(8):1589-1593.
- (165) Rasquin SM, Verhey FR, Lousberg R, Winkens I, Lodder J. Vascular cognitive disorders: memory, mental speed and cognitive flexibility after stroke. *J Neurol Sci* 2002;203-204:115-119.
- (166) Taub E, Uswatte G, King DK, Morris D, Crago JE, Chatterjee A. A placebocontrolled trial of constraint-induced movement therapy for upper extremity after stroke. *Stroke* 2006;37(4):1045-1049.
- (167) Barbay S, Plautz EJ, Friel KM et al. Behavioral and neurophysiological effects of delayed training following a small ischemic infarct in primary motor cortex of squirrel monkeys. *Exp Brain Res* 2006;169(1):106-116.
- (168) Nudo RJ, Wise BM, SiFuentes F, Milliken GW. Neural substrates for the effects of rehabilitative training on motor recovery after ischemic infarct. *Science* 1996;272(5269):1791-1794.
- (169) Fjaertoft H, Indredavik B, Lydersen S. Stroke unit care combined with early supported discharge: long-term follow-up of a randomized controlled trial. *Stroke* 2003;34(11):2687-2691.
- (170) Langhorne P, Pollock A. What are the components of effective stroke unit care? Age Ageing 2002;31(5):365-371.
- (171) Wolf SL, Winstein CJ, Miller JP et al. Effect of constraint-induced movement therapy on upper extremity function 3 to 9 months after stroke: the EXCITE randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 2006;296(17):2095-2104.

- (172) Wu CY, Chuang LL, Lin KC, Chen HC, Tsay PK. Randomized trial of distributed constraint-induced therapy versus bilateral arm training for the rehabilitation of upper-limb motor control and function after stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2011;25(2):130-139.
- (173) van Delden AL, Peper CL, Harlaar J et al. Comparing unilateral and bilateral upper limb training: the ULTRA-stroke program design. *BMC Neurol* 2009;9:57.
- (174) Hofstad H, Naess H, Moe-Nilssen R, Skouen JS. Early supported discharge after stroke in Bergen (ESD Stroke Bergen): a randomized controlled trial comparing rehabilitation in a day unit or in the patients' homes with conventional treatment. *Int J Stroke* 2012.
- (175) Boake C, Noser EA, Ro T et al. Constraint-induced movement therapy during early stroke rehabilitation. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2007;21(1):14-24.
- (176) Brogardh C, Vestling M, Sjolund BH. Shortened constraint-induced movement therapy in subacute stroke - no effect of using a restraint: a randomized controlled study with independent observers. *J Rehabil Med* 2009;41(4):231-236.
- (177) Myint JM, Yuen GF, Yu TK et al. A study of constraint-induced movement therapy in subacute stroke patients in Hong Kong. *Clin Rehabil* 2008;22(2):112-124.
- (178) Page SJ, Sisto S, Johnston MV, Levine P. Modified constraint-induced therapy after subacute stroke: a preliminary study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2002;16(3):290-295.
- (179) Page SJ, Levine P, Leonard AC. Modified constraint-induced therapy in acute stroke: a randomized controlled pilot study. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2005;19(1):27-32.

- (180) Nijland R, Kwakkel G, Bakers J, van WE. Constraint-induced movement therapy for the upper paretic limb in acute or sub-acute stroke: a systematic review. *Int J Stroke* 2011;6(5):425-433.
- (181) Wang Q, Zhao JL, Zhu QX, Li J, Meng PP. Comparison of conventional therapy, intensive therapy and modified constraint-induced movement therapy to improve upper extremity function after stroke. *J Rehabil Med* 2011;43(7):619-625.
- (182) Page SJ, Sisto S, Levine P, McGrath RE. Efficacy of modified constraintinduced movement therapy in chronic stroke: a single-blinded randomized controlled trial. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2004;85(1):14-18.
- (183) Stinear JW, Byblow WD. Rhythmic bilateral movement training modulates corticomotor excitability and enhances upper limb motricity poststroke: a pilot study. *J Clin Neurophysiol* 2004;21(2):124-131.
- (184) Wu CY, Chuang LL, Lin KC, Chen HC, Tsay PK. Randomized Trial of Distributed Constraint-Induced Therapy Versus Bilateral Arm Training for the Rehabilitation of Upper-Limb Motor Control and Function After Stroke. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2010.
- (185) Platz T, Winter T, Muller N, Pinkowski C, Eickhof C, Mauritz KH. Arm ability training for stroke and traumatic brain injury patients with mild arm paresis: a single-blind, randomized, controlled trial. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2001;82(7):961-968.
- (186) Kitago T, Liang J, Huang VS et al. Improvement After Constraint-Induced Movement Therapy: Recovery of Normal Motor Control or Task-Specific Compensation? *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* 2012.
- (187) Krawczyk M, Sidaway M, Radwanska A, Zaborska J, Ujma R, Czlonkowska A. Effects of sling and voluntary constraint during constraint-induced movement therapy for the arm after stroke: a randomized, prospective, single-centre, blinded observer rated study. *Clin Rehabil* 2012.
- (188) Pineiro R, Pendlebury S, Johansen-Berg H, Matthews PM. Altered hemodynamic responses in patients after subcortical stroke measured by functional MRI. *Stroke* 2002;33(1):103-109.

- (189) Altamura C, Reinhard M, Vry MS et al. The longitudinal changes of BOLD response and cerebral hemodynamics from acute to subacute stroke. A fMRI and TCD study. *BMC Neurosci* 2009;10:151.
- (190) Yavuzer G, Selles R, Sezer N et al. Mirror therapy improves hand function in subacute stroke: a randomized controlled trial. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil* 2008;89(3):393-398.
- (191) Caspers S, Zilles K, Laird AR, Eickhoff SB. ALE meta-analysis of action observation and imitation in the human brain. *Neuroimage* 2010;50(3):1148-1167.
- (192) Fogassi L, Ferrari PF, Gesierich B, Rozzi S, Chersi F, Rizzolatti G. Parietal lobe: from action organization to intention understanding. *Science* 2005;308(5722):662-667.
- (193) Rizzolatti G, Ferrari PF, Rozzi S, Fogassi L. The inferior parietal lobule: where action becomes perception. *Novartis Found Symp* 2006;270:129-140.
- (194) Molenberghs P. Activation patterns during action observation are modulated by context in mirror system areas. 2011.
- (195) Umilta MA, Kohler E, Gallese V et al. I know what you are doing. a neurophysiological study. *Neuron* 2001;31(1):155-165.
- (196) Rizzolatti G, Arbib MA. Language within our grasp. *Trends Neurosci* 1998;21(5):188-194.
- (197) Herrero MT, Barcia C, Navarro JM. Functional anatomy of thalamus and basal ganglia. *Childs Nerv Syst* 2002;18(8):386-404.